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GLOSSARY

 

As used in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, the terms identified below have the meanings specified below unless otherwise noted or the context 
indicates otherwise. References in this Form 10-Q to “Definitive Healthcare Corp.” refer to Definitive Healthcare Corp. and not to any of its subsidiaries 
unless the context indicates otherwise. References in this Form 10-Q to “Definitive Healthcare”, "Definitive”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refer 
(1) prior to the consummation of the Reorganization Transactions, to Definitive OpCo and its consolidated subsidiaries, and (2) after the consummation of 
the Reorganization Transactions, to Definitive Healthcare Corp. and its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise.

 
• “Advent” refers to funds affiliated with Advent International, a global private equity firm.
• “Advent Acquisition” refers to the purchase of a majority of the issued and outstanding units of DH Holdings by Advent on July 16, 2019. 

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination and purchase accounting was applied.
• “AIDH Management Holdings, LLC” is a special purpose investment vehicle through which certain persons, primarily employees and certain 

legacy investors, indirectly hold interests in Definitive OpCo.
• “Amended LLC Agreement” refers to the second amended and restated limited liability company agreement entered into by Definitive Opco 

pursuant to which members have the right to exchange all or a portion of their LLC units for newly issued shares of Class A Common Stock 
in Definitive Healthcare Corp.  

• “ARR” refers to annualized recurring revenue as of period end.
• “Blocker Company” or “Blocker Companies” refers to certain entities treated as corporations for U.S. tax purposes that held LLC units in 

Definitive OpCo which, through the Reorganization Transactions, were merged into Definitive Healthcare Corp. and are now holders of 
Class A Common Stock.

• “Class B Units” refers to units granted by AIDH Management Holdings, LLC prior to the Reorganization Transactions intended to be treated 
as “profit interests” for U.S. federal income tax purposes which have economic interests similar to Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARS”) and 
which are subject to vesting.

• “Continuing LLC Members” refers to holders of LLC Units under the Amended LLC Agreement.
• “Definitive OpCo” refers to AIDH TopCo, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and a subsidiary of Definitive Healthcare Corp., 

following the Reorganization Transactions.
• “Definitive OpCo Units” refers to unvested Class B Units held by employees of the Company or indirectly through Definitive OpCo at the 

time of the Reorganization Transactions that were exchanged for unvested Definitive OpCo units based on their respective participation 
thresholds and the IPO price of $27.00 per share.

• “DH Holdings” refers to Definitive Healthcare Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Definitive Healthcare Corp.

• “LLC Units” refers to limited liability company interests in Definitive OpCo.
• “IPO” refers to the initial public offering of Class A Common Stock of Definitive Healthcare Corp.
• “NDR” or “Net Dollar Retention Rate” refers to net dollar retention rate, which we calculate as the percentage of ARR retained from existing 

customers across a defined period, after accounting for upsell, down-sell, pricing changes and churn. We calculate net dollar retention as 
beginning ARR for a period, plus (i) expansion ARR (including, but not limited to, upsell and pricing increases), less (ii) churn (including, 
but not limited to, non-renewals and contractions), divided by (iii) beginning ARR for a period.

• “Reorganization Transactions” refers to transactions completed in connection with the Company’s IPO as defined within Note 1 to our 
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q.

• “Spectrum Equity” refers to investment funds associated with Spectrum Equity Management, L.P., a private equity firm.
• “Sponsors” refers collectively to Advent, 22C Capital, and Spectrum Equity.
• “22C Capital” refers to investment funds associated with 22C Capital LLC, a private equity firm.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“Quarterly Report”) contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by 
words such as “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “seeks,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects” and similar references to future periods, or by the inclusion of 
forecasts or projections. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements we make regarding the outlook for our future 
business and financial performance, such as those contained in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, the economy and other future conditions. 
Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, by their nature, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that 
are difficult to predict. As a result, our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Important factors 
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, regional, national or global 
political, economic, business, competitive, market and regulatory conditions.

For the reasons described above, we caution you against relying on any forward-looking statements, which should also be read in conjunction with 
Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, or our “2021 Form 10-K”, and Part II, Item 1A 
in this Quarterly Report and the other cautionary statements that are included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and in our public filings, including under 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”. Any forward-looking statement made by us speaks only as of 
the date on which we make it. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future developments or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(in thousands, except number of shares and par value) 
(Unaudited) 

 
  June 30, 2022   December 31, 2021  
Assets       
Current assets:               

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 228,202   $ 387,498  
Short-term investments   118,216    —  
Accounts receivable, net   31,734    43,336  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   9,591    6,518  
Current portion of deferred contract costs   8,469    6,880  

Total current assets   396,212    444,232  
Property and equipment, net   4,760    5,069  
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net   10,552    —  
Other assets   3,243    8,431  
Deferred contract costs, net of current portion   12,933    11,667  
Investment in equity securities   —    32,675  
Intangible assets, net   372,196    352,470  
Goodwill   1,322,959    1,261,444  

Total assets  $ 2,122,855   $ 2,115,988  
Liabilities and Equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable   6,692    4,651  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   14,682    22,658  
Current portion of deferred revenue   88,714    83,611  
Current portion of term loan   6,875    6,875  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities   2,225    —  

Total current liabilities   119,188    117,795  
Long term liabilities:       

Deferred revenue   278    412  
Term loan, net of current portion   260,646    263,808  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion   10,596    —  
Tax receivable agreements liability   155,900    153,529  
Deferred tax liabilities   85,596    75,888  
Other long-term liabilities   1,951    1,294  

Total liabilities   634,155    612,726  
       
Equity:       

Class A Common Stock, par value $0.001, 600,000,000 shares authorized, 100,484,715 and 
97,030,095 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively   100    97  
Class B Common Stock, par value $0.00001, 65,000,000 shares authorized, 54,745,380 and 
52,196,192 shares issued and outstanding, respectively, at June 30, 2022, and 58,244,627 and 
55,488,221 shares issued and outstanding, respectively at December 31, 2021

 
 —  

 
 —  

Additional paid-in capital   929,842    890,724  
Accumulated other comprehensive income   1,994    62  
Accumulated deficit   (31,451 )   (17,677 )
Noncontrolling interests   588,215    630,056  

Total equity   1,488,700    1,503,262  
Total liabilities and equity  $ 2,122,855   $ 2,115,988  

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements 
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DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP. 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
(amounts in thousands, except share amounts and per share data) 

(Unaudited) 
  
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Revenue  $ 54,548   $ 39,821   $ 104,672   $ 76,757  
Cost of revenue:             

Cost of revenue exclusive of amortization   6,198    4,570    12,148    8,766  
Amortization   5,580    5,299    10,958    10,540  

Gross profit   42,770    29,952    81,566    57,451  
Operating expenses:             

Sales and marketing   23,585    12,884    44,878    24,627  
Product development   8,706    4,277    15,556    8,071  
General and administrative   9,392    6,375    19,846    11,011  
Depreciation and amortization   10,194    9,608    20,068    19,054  
Transaction and restructuring expenses   2,107    3,431    3,417    3,469  

Total operating expenses   53,984    36,575    103,765    66,232  
Loss from operations   (11,214 )   (6,623 )   (22,199 )   (8,781 )

Other income (expense), net:             
Other income (expense), net   4,002    (100 )   3,901    24  
Interest expense, net   (2,580 )   (8,316 )   (4,464 )   (16,770 )

Total other income (expense), net   1,422    (8,416 )   (563 )   (16,746 )
Net loss before income taxes   (9,792 )   (15,039 )   (22,762 )   (25,527 )

Income tax benefit   213    —    126    —  
Net loss   (9,579 )   (15,039 )   (22,636 )   (25,527 )

Less: Net loss attributable to Definitive OpCo prior to the 
Reorganization Transactions   —    (15,039 )   —    (25,527 )

Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   (4,429 )   —    (8,862 )   —  
Net loss attributable to Definitive Healthcare Corp.  $ (5,150 )  $ —   $ (13,774 )  $ —  

Net loss per share of Class A Common Stock:             
Basic and diluted  $ (0.05 )  N/A   $ (0.14 )  N/A  

Weighted average Class A Common Stock outstanding:             
Basic and diluted   99,203,697   N/A    98,186,909   N/A  

(1) Basic and diluted net loss per share of Class A Common Stock is applicable only for the periods beginning from September 15, 2021, which is the period following the IPO and related 
Reorganization Transactions. See Note 19 for the number of shares used in the computation of net loss per share of Class A Common Stock and the basis for the computation of net loss per share.

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements 
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DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP. 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(amounts in thousands) 

(Unaudited) 
  
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Net loss  $ (9,579 )  $ (15,039 )  $ (22,636 )  $ (25,527 )
Other comprehensive loss:                     

Foreign currency translation adjustments   105    (19 )   111    144  
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities   (143 )   —    (452 )   —  
Unrealized gain on interest rate hedging instruments   1,694    —    3,340    —  

Comprehensive loss   (7,923 )   (15,058 )   (19,637 )   (25,383 )
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to Definitive OpCo prior to the 
Reorganization Transactions   —    (15,058 )   —    (25,383 )
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests   (3,849 )   —    (7,795 )   —  

Comprehensive loss attributable to Definitive Healthcare Corp.  $ (4,074 )  $ —   $ (11,842 )  $ —  

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements 
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DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP.
 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY AND TOTAL EQUITY 
(amounts in thousands, except share and unit amounts) 

(Unaudited) 
  
             Accumulated      
         Additional    Other      

 Class A  Class A  Class B  Class B  Paid-In  Accumulated  
Comprehensiv

e  Noncontrolling  Total  
 Stock  Amount  Stock  Amount  Capital  Deficit  Income  Interests  Equity  

Balance at January 1, 2022  97,030,095  $ 97   
58,244,62

7  $ —  $ 890,724  $ (17,677 ) $ 62  $ 630,056  $ 1,503,262  
Net loss  —   —   —   —   —   (8,624 )  —   (4,433 )  (13,057 )
Other comprehensive income  —   —   —   —   —   —   856   487   1,343  
Vested incentive units  —   —   —   —   (696 )  —   —   696   —  
Effect of LLC unit exchanges  544,302   1   (544,302 )  —   5,080   —   —   (5,978 )  (897 )
Forfeited unvested incentive units  —   —   (33,549 )  —   —   —   —   —   —  
Equity-based compensation  —   —   —   —   4,377   —   —   2,495   6,872  
Distributions to noncontrolling 
interests  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (258 )  (258 )

Balance at March 31, 2022  97,574,397  $ 98   
57,666,77

6  $ —  $ 899,485  $ (26,301 ) $ 918  $ 623,065  $ 1,497,265  
Net loss  —   —   —   —   —   (5,150 )  —   (4,429 )  (9,579 )
Other comprehensive income  —   —   —   —   —   —   1,076   580   1,656  
Vested incentive units  —   —   —   —   (358 )  —   —   358   —  
Issuance of Class A Common 
Stock upon vesting of RSUs  11,729   —   —   —   45   —   —   (45 )  —  
Effect of LLC unit exchanges  2,898,589   2   (2,898,589 )  —   24,818   —   —   (29,438 )  (4,618 )
Forfeited unvested incentive units  —   —   (22,807 )  —   —   —   —   —   —  
Equity-based compensation  —   —   —   —   5,852   —   —   3,153   9,005  
Distributions to noncontrolling 
interests  —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (5,029 )  (5,029 )

Balance at June 30, 2022  100,484,715  $ 100   
54,745,38

0  $ —  $ 929,842  $ (31,451 ) $ 1,994  $ 588,215  $ 1,488,700  
 

   Accumulated    
   Other  Total  
 Members'  Comprehensive  Members'  
 Equity  (Loss) Income  Equity  

Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 1,195,694  $ (131 ) $ 1,195,563  
Net loss prior to Reorganization Transactions  (10,488 )  —   (10,488 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) prior to Reorganization 
Transactions  —   163   163  
Equity-based compensation  406   —   406  
Balance at March 31, 2021 $ 1,185,612  $ 32  $ 1,185,644  
Net loss prior to Reorganization Transactions  (15,039 )  —   (15,039 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) prior to Reorganization 
Transactions  —   (19 )  (19 )
Equity-based compensation  1,615   —   1,615  
Members' contributions prior to Reorganization Transactions  5,500   —   5,500  
Distributions to members prior to Reorganization Transactions  (3,328 )  —   (3,328 )
Balance at June 30, 2021 $ 1,174,360  $ 13  $ 1,174,373  

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP. 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(amounts in thousands)

(Unaudited)
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2022   2021  
Cash flows provided by operating activities:       

Net loss  $ (22,636 )  $ (25,527 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization   1,252    741  
Amortization of intangible assets   29,774    28,853  
Amortization of deferred contract costs   3,991    1,902  
Equity-based compensation   15,877    2,021  
Amortization of debt issuance costs   351    1,047  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   6    (105 )
Non-cash restructuring charges related to office leases   1,023    —  
Tax receivable agreement remeasurement   (3,143 )   —  
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration   —    3,381  
Deferred income taxes   (164 )   —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       
Accounts receivable   15,270    10,476  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,319    (614 )
Deferred contract costs   (6,846 )   (6,042 )
Contingent consideration   (6,400 )   —  
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (2,238 )   (2,119 )
Deferred revenue   1,678    7,927  

Net cash provided by operating activities   29,114    21,941  
Cash flows used in investing activities:       

Purchases of property, equipment and other assets   (1,577 )   (5,222 )
Purchases of short-term investments   (162,957 )   —  
Maturities of short-term investments   44,000    —  
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (56,499 )   —  

Net cash used in investing activities   (177,033 )   (5,222 )
Cash flows used in financing activities:       

Repayments of term loans   (3,438 )   (2,340 )
Payment of contingent consideration   (1,100 )   (1,500 )
Payments of equity offering issuance costs   (1,299 )   (1,394 )
Member contributions   —    5,500  
Member distributions   (5,287 )   (3,328 )

Net cash used in financing activities   (11,124 )   (3,062 )
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (159,043 )   13,657  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (253 )   7  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   387,498    24,774  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 228,202   $ 38,438  

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:       
Cash paid during the period for:       

Interest  $ 4,350   $ 15,972  
Income taxes  $ —   $ 13  
Acquisitions:       

Net assets acquired, net of cash acquired  $ 97,499   $ —  
Initial cash investment in prior year   (40,000 )   —  
Contingent consideration   (1,000 )   —  

Net cash paid for acquisitions  $ 56,499   $ —  
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities:       

Capital expenditures included in accrued expenses  $ 3,500   $ —  
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:       

Unpaid public offering costs included in accrued expenses  $ —   $ 2,426  
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See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements 
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DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP. 

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Unaudited) 

1. Description of Business 

Definitive Healthcare Corp., through its operating subsidiary, Definitive OpCo, provides comprehensive and up-to-date hospital and healthcare-
related information and insight across the entire healthcare continuum via a multi-tenant software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) platform which combines 
proprietary and public sources to deliver insights. The Company is headquartered in Framingham, MA.

Organization

Definitive Healthcare Corp. was formed on May 5, 2021 as a Delaware corporation to facilitate an initial public offering (“IPO”) and other related 
transactions to carry on the business of Definitive OpCo. Following consummation of the Reorganization Transactions, Definitive OpCo became an 
indirect subsidiary of Definitive Healthcare Corp.

Initial Public Offering

On September 17, 2021, Definitive Healthcare completed its IPO, in which it sold 17,888,888 shares of Class A Common Stock (including shares 
issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares) at a public offering price of $27.00 per share for net 
proceeds of $452.8 million, after deducting underwriters’ discounts and commissions (but excluding other offering expenses and reimbursements). 

Definitive Healthcare used net proceeds from the IPO to (i) acquire 14,222,222 newly issued limited liability company interests (“LLC Units”) from 
Definitive OpCo; (ii) purchase 1,169,378 LLC Units from certain holders of LLC Units prior to the IPO; and (iii) repurchase 2,497,288 shares of Class A 
Common Stock received by the former shareholders of certain Blocker Companies (as defined below). Definitive OpCo used proceeds from the IPO to pay 
fees and expenses of approximately $11.4 million incurred in connection with the IPO and the Reorganization Transactions and to repay $199.6 million, 
inclusive of accrued interest expense, of the outstanding borrowings under our 2019 Credit Agreement, with the remaining proceeds intended to be used for 
general corporate purposes.

Reorganization Transactions

In connection with the IPO, the Company completed the following transactions (the “Reorganization Transactions”). Definitive OpCo entered into a 
second amended and restated limited liability company agreement (the “Amended LLC Agreement”) pursuant to which members of Definitive OpCo prior 
to the IPO who continue to hold LLC Units have the right to require Definitive OpCo to exchange all or a portion of their LLC Units for newly issued 
shares of Class A Common Stock. Until exchanged, each LLC Unit is coupled with one share of Definitive Healthcare Corp. Class B Common Stock. The 
total amount of shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding is equal to the number of vested LLC Units outstanding. Entities treated as corporations for 
U.S. tax purposes that held LLC Units (individually, a “Blocker Company” and collectively, the "Blocker Companies") each merged with a merger 
subsidiary and subsequently merged into Definitive Healthcare Corp. and are now holders of Class A Common Stock. 

Following the Reorganization Transactions, Definitive Healthcare Corp. became a holding company, with its sole material asset being a controlling 
equity interest in Definitive OpCo. Definitive Healthcare Corp. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Definitive OpCo, and through 
Definitive OpCo and its subsidiaries, conducts its business. Accordingly, Definitive Healthcare Corp. consolidates the financial results of Definitive OpCo 
and reports the noncontrolling interests of unexchanged LLC Unit holders on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

In connection with the Reorganization Transactions and the IPO, Definitive Healthcare Corp entered into a tax receivable agreement. See Note 18. 
Income Taxes.

Follow-On Offering

On November 22, 2021, Definitive Healthcare Corp. completed a follow-on offering, in which it sold 11,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock 
at a public offering price of $36.00 per share for net proceeds of $382.1 million, after deducting underwriters’ discounts and commissions (but excluding 
other offering expenses and reimbursements). 

Definitive Healthcare Corp. used net proceeds from the follow-on offering to (i) acquire 7,000,000 newly issued LLC Units from Definitive OpCo; 
(ii) purchase 1,766,762 LLC Units from certain unitholders; and (iii) repurchase 2,233,238 shares of Class A Common Stock received by the former 
shareholders of certain Blocker Companies. Definitive OpCo used net proceeds from the follow-on offering to pay fees and expenses of approximately $1.6 
million incurred in connection with the follow-on offering, with the remaining proceeds intended to be used for general corporate purposes.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and in conformity with rules applicable to quarterly financial information. Any reference in these notes to 
applicable accounting guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative nongovernmental GAAP as found in the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”). The condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2022 and for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are unaudited. Amounts for the period from January 1, 2021 through June 30, 2021 presented in the condensed 
consolidated financial statements and notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements herein represent the historical operations of Definitive 
OpCo. The amounts as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 and for the period from January 1, 2022 through June 30, 2022 reflect the consolidated 
operations of Definitive Healthcare Corp. and its consolidated subsidiaries. All adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, except as 
otherwise noted, considered necessary for a fair presentation of the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for these interim periods 
have been included. 

Refer to Note 2 below and to Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 for the Company’s significant accounting policies and estimates.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments, and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include, but are not limited to, 
revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, contingencies, valuations and useful lives of intangible assets acquired in business combinations, 
equity-based compensation, and income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Leases

Effective January 1, 2022, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02—Leases (Topic 842) (“ASC 842”). 

In accordance with ASC 842, the Company, at the inception of the contract, determines whether a contract is or contains a lease. For leases with 
terms greater than 12 months, the Company records the related operating or finance right of use asset and lease liability at the present value of lease 
payments over the lease term. The Company is generally not able to readily determine the implicit rate in the lease and therefore uses the determined 
incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement to determine the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate represents an 
estimate of the market interest rate the Company would incur at lease commencement to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a collateralized 
basis over the term of a lease. Renewal options are not included in the measurement of the right of use assets and lease liabilities unless the Company is 
reasonably certain to exercise the optional renewal periods. Some leases also include early termination options, which can be exercised under specific 
conditions. Additionally, certain leases contain incentives, such as construction allowances from landlords. These incentives reduce the right-of-use asset 
related to the lease. 

Some of the Company's leases contain rent escalations over the lease term. The Company recognizes expense for operating leases on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. The Company’s lease agreements contain variable lease payments for common area maintenance, utility, and taxes. The Company 
has elected the practical expedient to combine lease and non-lease components for all asset categories. Therefore, the lease payments used to measure the 
lease liability for these leases include fixed minimum rentals along with fixed non-lease component charges. The Company does not have significant 
residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants in the lease portfolio.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 815—Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), provides the disclosure requirements for 
derivatives and hedging activities with the intent to provide users of financial statements with an enhanced understanding of: (a) how and why an entity 
uses derivative instruments, (b) how the entity accounts for derivative instruments and related hedged items, and (c) how derivative instruments and related 
hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. Further, qualitative disclosures are required that explain the 
Company’s objectives and strategies for using derivatives, as well as quantitative disclosures about the fair value of and gains and losses on derivative 
instruments, and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in derivative instruments. 
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As required by ASC 815, the Company records all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value.  The accounting for changes in the fair value of 
derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether the Company has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply 
hedge accounting and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying 
as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, 
are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other 
types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Derivatives may also be designated as hedges of the foreign currency exposure of a net 
investment in a foreign operation. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging 
instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk in a fair value hedge or 
the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge.  The Company may enter into derivative contracts that are intended to 
economically hedge certain of its risk, even though hedge accounting does not apply or the Company elects not to apply hedge accounting. 

In accordance with the FASB’s fair value measurement guidance in ASU 2011-04—Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and 
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS (“ASC 820”), the Company made an accounting policy election to measure the credit risk of its 
derivative financial instruments that are subject to master netting agreements on a net basis by counterparty portfolio.

Adoption of Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards 

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08—Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities 
from Contracts with Customers. This new accounting standard requires contract assets and contract liabilities (i.e., deferred revenue) acquired in a business 
combination to be recognized and measured by the acquirer on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606—Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 
The standard requires the acquirer to recognize contract assets and contract liabilities at the same amounts recorded by the acquiree. The new accounting 
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this new accounting 
guidance effective January 1, 2022. In connection with the acquisition of Analytical Wizards completed in the first quarter of 2022, the Company recorded 
contract liabilities of $3.4 million. Refer to Note 3. Acquisitions for further details.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12—Income Taxes (Topic 740), Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This standard 
removes certain exceptions for investments, intra-period allocations and interim tax calculations and adds guidance to reduce complexity in accounting for 
income taxes. The amendment is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company adopted this new accounting guidance 
effective January 1, 2022, but the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02—Leases. The new standard establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to 
record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than twelve months. Leases will be classified as either finance 
or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. 

The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02—Leases effective January 1, 2022 using the modified retrospective transition method. Prior period results 
will continue to be presented under ASC 840 as it was the accounting standard in effect for such periods. The Company elected to apply the package of 
practical expedients that allows entities to forgo reassessing at the transition date: (1) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases; (2) 
lease classification for any expired or existing leases; and (3) whether unamortized initial direct costs for existing leases meet the definition of initial direct 
costs under the new guidance. The Company did not elect the hindsight practical expedient. The Company elected to use the practical expedient that allows 
the combination of lease and non-lease contract components in all of its underlying asset categories. Finally, the Company also elected a policy of not 
recording leases on its condensed consolidated balance sheets when the leases have a term of 12 months or less and the Company is not reasonably certain 
to elect an option to renew the leased asset. Due to the adoption of this guidance, the Company recognized operating right-of-use assets of $12.7 million 
and operating lease liabilities of $14.0 million as of the date of adoption. The difference between the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the 
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet is primarily due to the accrual for lease payments as a result of straight-line lease expense and 
unamortized tenant incentive liability balances. The Company did not have any impact to opening retained earnings as a result of the adoption of the 
guidance. The adoption of this new guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, comprehensive loss, cash flows, 
liquidity or the Company’s covenant compliance under its existing credit agreement.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13—Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326) – Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments. This standard is intended to improve financial reporting by requiring earlier recognition of credit losses on financing receivables and other 
financial assets in scope, such as trade receivables. The amendment is effective for fiscal 
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years beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company will adopt the update effective January 1, 2023 and does not expect the adoption of the standard to 
have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04—Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on 
Financial Reporting. The amendments of ASU No. 2020-04 are effective for companies as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. An entity may 
elect to apply the amendments for contract modifications by Topic or Industry Subtopic as of any date from the beginning of an interim period that includes 
or is subsequent to March 12, 2020, or prospectively from a date within an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020, up to the date 
that the financial statements are available to be issued. The amendments in this update apply only to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions 
that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform and provide optional expedients and 
exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. 
The Company is evaluating the impact that the amendments of this standard would have on its consolidated financial position or results of operations upon 
adoption.

3. Acquisitions 

On December 22, 2021, Definitive Healthcare, LLC (“DH, LLC”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Definitive Healthcare Corp. made a 
$40.0 million investment in Analytical Wizards Inc. (“AW” or “Analytical Wizards”), a privately held company. Analytical Wizards automates complex 
analytic models using tools that expedite efficient big data mining through artificial intelligence ("A.I.") and machine learning ("M.L.") to uncover deep 
insights. In the transaction the Company purchased Series B Convertible Preferred Stock of AW (“Series B Preferred Stock”), representing 35% ownership 
of AW, and an option to acquire the remaining 65% ownership (the "Purchase Option") for $65.0 million. As of December 31, 2021, the Company 
determined it did not have a controlling financial interest in AW at transaction close as the Company did not have the right to control the governing body of 
AW or have control through other contractual rights. At December 31, 2021, because the Series B Preferred Stock and the Purchase Option did not have 
readily determinable fair values, the Company elected to apply the measurement alternative and adjust the carrying value of the investments in AW for 
impairments and observable prices in identical or similar equity securities of AW. The Company paid $40.0 million for the Series B Preferred Stock and 
Purchase Option, which was allocated on a relative fair value basis such that the Series B Preferred Stock and Purchase Option had carrying values of $32.7 
million and $7.3 million at the time of the transaction, respectively. The Series B Preferred Stock was recorded in Investments in equity securities and the 
Purchase Option was recorded in Other assets in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021.

On February 18, 2022, the Company purchased the remaining 65% of AW’s equity for $65.0 million, net of cash acquired and an estimated working 
capital adjustment and other customary purchase price adjustments (the “AW acquisition”). The Company’s previously held investment and Purchase 
Option were remeasured at fair value as of the date the Purchase Option was exercised. The remeasurement had an immaterial impact on the condensed 
consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022. The Company has included the financial results of Analytical Wizards in 
the condensed consolidated financial statements from February 18, 2022, the date of acquisition.

Upon the consummation of the acquisition, AW became an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Definitive Healthcare Corp. The total consideration 
for the initial investment and subsequent exercise of the Purchase Option was $99.4 million, consisting of $40.0 million for the initial investment paid in 
December 2021, approximately $58.6 million of cash paid at closing, $0.2 million reimbursement from sellers for working capital adjustments, and up to 
$5.0 million of contingent consideration, initially valued at $1.0 million. The contingent consideration, which relates to earn-out payments that may be paid 
out, subject to meeting certain expense control metrics during the two-year period following the closing of the AW acquisition, has an estimated fair value 
of $1.0 million as of the acquisition date. Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement governing the AW acquisition, $10.0 million of the consideration was 
deposited into an escrow account to secure certain indemnification claims of DH, LLC.  The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their 
estimated preliminary fair values and the results of operations were included in the Company’s condensed consolidated results as of the acquisition date.

The consideration transferred for the transaction is summarized as follows:

(in thousands)    
Initial cash investment in December 2021  $ 40,000  
Cash consideration paid at closing   58,645  
Working capital adjustment   (202 )
Contingent consideration   1,000  

Purchase price  $ 99,443  

The contingent consideration is based on the achievement of certain expense control metrics during the two-year period following the acquisition 
date, with potential earn-out payouts ranging from $0 to $5.0 million. The Company estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration to be $1.0 
million as of February 18, 2022, based on the estimated achievement of the expense control 
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metrics, time to payment and market participant cost of debt. The contingent consideration was recorded in Other long-term liabilities in the accompanying 
condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2022. Refer to Note 12. Fair Value Measurements.

The purchase price allocations for the AW acquisition are provisional and are based on the information that was available as of the acquisition date 
to estimate the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The purchase price allocations for this acquisition, reported as of June 30, 2022, 
represent the Company’s best estimates of the fair values and were based upon the information available to us. The Company is gathering and reviewing 
additional information necessary to finalize the values assigned to the acquired assets and liabilities assumed, as well as acquired identified intangible 
assets and goodwill. Therefore, the provisional measurements of fair values reported as of June 30, 2022 are subject to change. The Company is expected to 
finalize the purchase price allocations as soon as practicable, but no later than one year from the respective acquisition date. The preliminary allocation of 
the acquisition-date fair values of assets and liabilities pertaining to this business combination as of February 18, 2022, was as follows:

(in thousands)    
Preliminary allocation:  February 18, 2022  
Cash  $ 2,146  
Accounts receivable   3,525  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   640  
Property and equipment   134  
Intangible assets   46,000  
Right-of-use asset, operating leases   832  
Other assets   703  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (821 )
Deferred revenue   (3,365 )
Right-of-use liability, operating leases   (832 )
Deferred taxes   (10,135 )
Other liabilities   (900 )
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed   37,927  
Goodwill   61,516  

Purchase price  $ 99,443  

As a result of the AW acquisition, the Company recorded goodwill, customer relationships, developed software, and tradename of $61.5 million, 
$39.4 million, $6.1 million, and $0.5 million, respectively, as of the acquisition date. The goodwill recognized includes the fair value of the assembled 
workforce, which is not recognized as an intangible asset separable from goodwill, and any expected synergies gained through the acquisition. The 
Company determined that the goodwill resulting from the acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes. All goodwill has been allocated to the Company’s 
one reportable segment.

Customer relationships represent the estimated fair value of the underlying relationships with the acquired entity’s business customers. The 
Company valued customer relationships using the income approach, specifically the multi-period excess earnings method. Significant assumptions include 
estimated attrition rates, discount rates, and tax rates reflecting the different risk profiles of the asset depending upon the acquisition. The value assigned to 
customer relationships is $39.4 million and is amortized using the annual pattern of cash flows (economic value method) over the estimated 20-year life of 
this asset.

The developed software represents AW’s two modules. Passport Promotional Analytics helps customers to optimize internal investment and 
business management by focusing on driving incremental efficiencies in sales, cost management, profit optimization, and productive gains. Passport 
Planning and Performance helps customers to analyze large data sets in order to proactively predict business outcomes. The Company used the income 
approach, specifically the relief-from-royalty method, to determine the value of developed software. Significant assumptions include forecast of royalty 
rate, tax rate, and discount rate. The developed software was valued at $6.1 million and is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated 
remaining useful life of 6 years.

The tradename represents the estimated fair value of the registered trade name associated with the AW corporate brand. The Company estimated the 
fair value of the trademark using a relief from royalty method of the income approach. Significant assumptions include forecast of royalty rate, tax rate, and 
discount rate. The trademark was valued at $0.5 million and is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful life of 5 years.

The amortization periods for the customer relationships, developed software, and tradenames are 20 years, 6 years, and 5 years, respectively. See 
Note 9 for the estimated total intangible amortization expense during the next five years.

In connection with the acquisition, the Company recognized acquisition related costs of $1.2 million which were recorded within transaction 
expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2022.

During the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, AW’s post-acquisition revenue and net loss on a standalone basis were not material.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Supplementary Data as if the transaction had occurred on January 1, 2021:

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021  
Revenue  $ 106,149   $ 81,765  
Net loss   (22,136 )   (26,582 )

These pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of the operating results of the 
Company that would have been achieved had the acquisition actually taken place on January 1, 2021. In addition, these results are not intended to be a 
projection of future results and do not reflect events that may occur after the acquisition, including but not limited to revenue enhancements, cost savings or 
operating synergies that the combined Company may achieve as a result of the acquisition.

4. Revenue 

The Company disaggregates revenue from its arrangements with customers by type of service as it believes these categories best depict how the 
nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. 

The following table represents a disaggregation of revenue from arrangements with customers for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 
2021, respectively:  

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Platform subscriptions  $ 53,211   $ 39,400   $ 102,980   $ 75,765  
Professional services   1,337    421    1,692    992  
Total revenue  $ 54,548   $ 39,821   $ 104,672   $ 76,757  

The opening and closing balances of the Company’s receivables, deferred contract costs and contract liabilities from contracts with customers are as 
follows:  

(in thousands)  June 30,
2022   December 31,

2021  

Accounts receivable, net  $ 31,734   $ 43,336  
Deferred contract costs, current portion   8,469    6,880  
Deferred contract costs, long-term   12,933    11,667  
Deferred revenues   88,992    84,023  

Deferred Contract Costs 

A summary of the activity impacting the deferred contract costs for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021 is 
presented below:  

(in thousands)  
Six Months Ended 

June 30, 2022   

Twelve Months 
Ended December 31, 

2021  
Balance at beginning of period  $ 18,547   $ 8,899  

Costs amortized   (3,991 )   (4,792 )
Additional amounts deferred   6,846    14,440  

Balance at end of period   21,402    18,547  
Classified as:       

Current   8,469    6,880  
Non-current   12,933    11,667  

Total deferred contract costs (deferred commissions)  $ 21,402   $ 18,547  
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Contract Liabilities 

A summary of the activity impacting deferred revenue balances during the six months ended June 30, 2022 and for the year ended December 31, 
2021 is presented below:  

(in thousands)  
Six Months Ended 

June 30, 2022   

Twelve Months 
Ended December 31, 

2021  
Balance at beginning of period  $ 84,023   $ 61,200  
Revenue recognized   (104,672 )   (166,154 )
Additional amounts deferred   109,641    188,977  
Balance at end of period  $ 88,992   $ 84,023  

Remaining Performance Obligations 

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, which includes 
unearned revenue and unbilled amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. The Company expects to recognize 
approximately 64% of the revenue within the next year and the remainder thereafter.

The remaining performance obligations consisted of the following:  

(in thousands)  June 30,
2022   

December 31,
2021  

Current  $ 163,304   $ 155,134  
Non-current   93,307    95,354  

Total  $ 256,611   $ 250,488  
 
5. Leases

The Company leases real estate in the form of office space facilities. Generally, the term for real estate leases ranges from 1 to 9 years at inception of 
the contract. Some real estate leases include options to renew that can extend the original term by 5 to 10 years. 

Operating lease costs are allocated according to headcount to cost of revenue, sales and marketing, product development and general and 
administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. As of June 30, 2022, the Company does not have any finance leases.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2022, the Company gave notice of its intent to extend one of its office lease facilities for an additional five-year 
period and the extension was accounted for as a lease modification under ASC 842. Accordingly, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset and 
corresponding operating lease liability of $6.0 million, which represented the present value of the expected future minimum lease payments. During the 
quarter ended June 30, 2022, the Company’s executive leadership team approved a program to exit the office lease facility and signed an agreement with 
the landlord to withdraw the Company’s exercise of the option to extend. As a result, the lease will terminate on December 31, 2022. This was accounted 
for as a lease modification under ASC 842 and the Company reduced the right-of-use asset by $6.0 million in the second quarter of 2022. The Company 
ceased use of the office facility during the quarter and accordingly recorded an impairment charge of $0.7 million, which represented the remaining 
carrying value of the right-of-use asset as of June 30, 2022.

Also during the second quarter of 2022, the Company executed a plan to exit one of its office facilities by exercising an early termination clause, 
which was accounted for as a lease modification under ASC 842. The Company ceased use of the office facility during the quarter and accordingly 
recorded a $0.2 million impairment charge, which represented the remaining carrying value of the right-of-use asset. 

The Company recorded the following lease costs for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022:

(in thousands)  Three Months Ended 
June 30, 2022   Six Months Ended 

June 30, 2022  
Lease Cost       
Capitalized operating lease cost  $ 888   $ 1,723  
Variable lease cost   —    1  
Total lease cost  $ 888   $ 1,724  
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(in thousands)     

Supplemental Cash Flow and Other Information     

Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities and capitalized operating leases:     

Operating cash flows  $ 1,544   

      

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:     

Capitalized operating leases  $ 803   

Lease term and discount rate consisted of the following at June 30, 2022:

  June 30, 2022  
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):    

Capitalized operating leases   6.03  
     
Weighted-average discount rate:    

Capitalized operating leases   4.2 %

The table below reconciles the undiscounted future minimum lease payments (displayed by year and in the aggregate) under noncancelable 
operating leases with terms of more than one year to the total operating lease liabilities recognized on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 
30, 2022.

(in thousands)  Capitalized Operating 
Lease  

2022, excluding the six months ended June 30, 2022  $ 1,608  
2023   1,898  
2024   2,353  
2025   2,147  
2026   2,071  
Thereafter   4,488  
   $ 14,565  
     
Imputed interest   1,744  
Lease liability balance at June 30, 2022  $ 12,821  

Future aggregate minimum annual lease payments as of December 31, 2021 reported in our 2021 Form 10-K under the previous lease accounting 
standard were as follows:

(in thousands)  Operating Lease  
2022  $ 3,120  
2023   1,895  
2024   2,282  
2025   2,174  
2026   2,165  
Thereafter   4,805  
   $ 16,441  

Total rent expense, which was allocated according to headcount to cost of revenue, sales and marketing, product development and general and 
administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations, was $0.7 million in the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 and 
$1.5 million and $1.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

6. Short-term Investments 

Short-term investments classified as available-for-sale consisted of the following: 
  June 30, 2022  

(in thousands)  Amortized Cost   Gross Unrealized Gains   Gross Unrealized 
Losses   Fair Value  

Short-term investments:             
US Treasuries  $ 60,233   $ —   $ (339 )  $ 59,894  
Commercial paper   58,434    —    (112 )   58,322  

Total short-term investments  $ 118,667   $ —   $ (451 )  $ 118,216  
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All short-term investments had stated maturity dates of less than one year.

7. Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable consisted of the following:

(in thousands)  June 30,
2022   

December 31,
2021  

Accounts receivable  $ 31,839   $ 44,303  
Unbilled receivable   1,080    430  
    32,919    44,733  

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts   (1,185 )   (1,397 )
Accounts receivable, net  $ 31,734   $ 43,336  

 

8. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consisted of the following: 

(in thousands)  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Computers and software  $ 5,306   $ 4,744  
Furniture and equipment   1,653    1,580  
Leasehold improvements   2,798    3,348  
    9,757    9,672  

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (4,997 )   (4,603 )
Property and equipment, net  $ 4,760   $ 5,069  

Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property and equipment was $0.8 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended June 
30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $1.3 million and $0.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. During the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022, in relation to our office relocations, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1.0 million, comprised of $0.9 million 
relating to the operating lease right-of-use assets, and $0.1 million relating to the leasehold improvements. The Company also recorded accelerated 
depreciation of computer equipment of $0.2 million.  These charges were recognized within Transaction and restructuring expenses in the Company’s 
condensed consolidated statements of operations. In connection with the office relocations, the Company disposed of $1.0 million of fully-depreciated 
property and equipment in the second quarter of 2022.

9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets, as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, consist of the following: 
  June 30, 2022  

(in thousands)
 

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

 Accumulated
Amortization  

 Net Carrying
Amount  

Finite-lived intangible assets:          
Customer relationships  $ 409,430   $ (110,696 )  $ 298,734  
Developed technologies   57,200    (21,453 )   35,747  
Tradenames   36,000    (6,096 )   29,904  
Database   46,580    (38,769 )   7,811  

Total finite-lived intangible assets   549,210    (177,014 )   372,196  
Goodwill   1,322,959    —    1,322,959  

Total goodwill and Intangible assets  $ 1,872,169   $ (177,014 )  $ 1,695,155  
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  December 31, 2021  

(in thousands)
 

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

 Accumulated
Amortization  

 Net Carrying
Amount  

Finite-lived intangible assets:          
Customer relationships  $ 370,030   $ (92,942 )  $ 277,088  
Developed technologies   51,100    (17,475 )   33,625  
Tradenames   35,500    (5,034 )   30,466  
Database   43,080    (31,789 )   11,291  

Total finite-lived intangible assets   499,710    (147,240 )   352,470  
Goodwill   1,261,444    —    1,261,444  

Total goodwill and Intangible assets  $ 1,761,154   $ (147,240 )  $ 1,613,914  

Amortization expense associated with finite-lived intangible assets was $15.1 million and $14.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 
and 2021, respectively, of which $5.6 million and $5.3 million was included in cost of revenue for the respective periods. Amortization expense associated 
with finite-lived intangible assets was $29.8 million and $28.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, of which $11.0 
million and $10.5 million was included in cost of revenue for the respective periods. 

Estimated total intangible amortization expense during the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

(in thousands)    
2022, excluding the six months ended June 30, 2022  $ 25,520  
2023   48,216  
2024   45,369  
2025   41,419  
2026   34,878  
Thereafter   176,794  
Total  $ 372,196  

The carrying amount of goodwill increased by $61.5 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022 as a result of the of AW acquisition (Note 
3).

The Company determined it had one reporting unit. There was no impairment of goodwill in the six months ended June 30, 2022 or 2021.

10. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives 

The Company is exposed to risks from changes in interest rates related to the 2021 Term Loan (See Note 11. Long-Term Debt). The Company uses 
derivative financial instruments, specifically, interest rate swap contracts, in order to manage its exposure to interest rate movements. Interest rate swaps 
designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over 
the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. Our primary objective in holding derivatives is to reduce the volatility of 
cash flows associated with changes in interest rates. The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes.    

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

  In March of 2022, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements. As of June 30, 2022, the two outstanding interest rate swap 
agreements each had a notional value of $67.5 million. The Company has not recorded any amounts due to ineffectiveness for the six months ended June 
30, 2022. The notional value of each interest rate swap agreement is expected to match the corresponding principal amount of a portion of our borrowings 
under the 2021 Term Loan. The swap agreements became effective as of March 31, 2022 and mature on March 31, 2025. During this period, the two 
notional amounts will have fixed interest rates of 2.0135% and 2.012%, and the counterparties to each of the agreements will pay the Company interest at a 
floating rate based on the one-month USD-LIBOR swap rate on the notional amounts. Interest payments will be made monthly on a net settlement basis.

The derivative interest rate swaps are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. Consequently, the change in the estimated fair value of the 
effective portion of the derivative is recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets 
and reclassified to interest expense, net, when the underlying transaction has an impact on earnings. The Company expects to recognize approximately $1.5 
million of net pre-tax gains from accumulated other comprehensive income as a 
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reduction of interest expense in the next twelve months associated with its interest rate swap. The Company recognizes derivative instruments and hedging 
activities on a gross basis as either assets or liabilities on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and measures them at fair value. Hedge 
accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with the earnings effect of the hedged 
forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. To receive hedge accounting treatment, all hedging relationships are formally documented at the inception of 
the hedge, and the hedges must be highly effective in offsetting changes to future cash flows on hedged transactions.

The fair values of the interest rate swaps and their respective locations in our condensed consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 2022 were as 
follows:

(in thousands)      
Description  Balance Sheet Location  June 30, 2022  
Short-term derivative asset  Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 1,453  
Long-term derivative asset  Other assets   1,887  

 

11. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt consisted of the following as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively: 
  June 30, 2022  

(in thousands)
 

Principal   

Unamortized debt
issuance costs /
financing costs   

Total debt,
net  

2021 Term Loan  $ 269,844   $ (2,323 )  $ 267,521  
Less: current portion of long-term debt         6,875  
Long-term debt        $ 260,646  

 
  December 31, 2021  

(in thousands)
 

Principal   

Unamortized debt
issuance costs /
financing costs   

Total debt,
net  

2021 Term Loan  $ 273,282   $ (2,599 )  $ 270,683  
Less: current portion of long-term debt         6,875  
Long-term debt        $ 263,808  

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company repaid $3.4 million in outstanding principal of the 2021 Term Loan, and related accrued 
interest payable of $3.9 million.

2021 Credit Agreement

In September 2021, DH Holdings entered into a credit agreement (the "2021 Credit Agreement") with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative 
agent, the other lenders party thereto and the other parties specified therein. The 2021 Credit Agreement provides for (i) a $275.0 million term loan A 
facility (the "2021 Term Loan") and (ii) a $75.0 million revolving credit facility (the "2021 Revolving Line of Credit" and, together with the 2021 Term 
Loan, collectively, the "2021 Credit Facilities"), the proceeds of which were used to repay a portion of the indebtedness outstanding under a previous credit 
agreement. Both the 2021 Term Loan and the 2021 Revolving Line of Credit mature on September 17, 2026. The 2021 Credit Facilities include customary 
affirmative, negative and financial covenants. The 2021 Credit Facilities are guaranteed by all of DH Holdings' wholly-owned domestic restricted 
subsidiaries and AIDH Buyer, a Delaware limited liability company and the direct parent company of DH Holdings, in each case, subject to customary 
exceptions, and are secured by a lien on substantially all of the assets of DH Holdings and the guarantors, including a pledge of the equity of DH Holdings, 
in each case, subject to customary exceptions.

The 2021 Term Loan is subject to annual amortization of principal, payable in equal quarterly installments on the last day of each fiscal quarter, 
commencing on December 31, 2021 (the "Initial Amortization Date"), equal to approximately 2.5% per annum of the principal amount of the term loans in 
the first year and second year after the Initial Amortization Date and approximately 5.0% per annum of the principal amount of the term loans in the third 
year, fourth year and fifth year after the Initial Amortization Date. A balloon payment of approximately $220.0 million will be due at the maturity of the 
2021 Term Loan. There was $269.8 million outstanding on the 2021 Term Loan at June 30, 2022.

DH Holdings is required to pay the lenders under the 2021 Credit Agreement an unused commitment fee of between 0.25% and 0.30% per annum 
on the undrawn commitments under the 2021 Revolving Line of Credit, depending on the total net leverage ratio, quarterly in arrears. The expense is 
included in interest expense in the statements of operations. There was no outstanding balance on the 2021 Revolving Line of Credit at June 30, 2022.
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For both the 2021 Term Loan and 2021 Revolving Line of Credit, DH Holdings may elect from several interest rate options based on the LIBO Rate 
or the Base Rate plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin will be based on the total leverage ratio beginning in the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2022. As of June 30, 2022, the effective interest rate was 3.92%.

In connection with the 2021 Credit Agreement, the Company capitalized financing costs totaling $3.5 million, $2.8 million for the 2021 Term Loan 
facility and $0.8 million for the 2021 Revolving Line of Credit. The financing costs associated with the 2021 Term Loan facility are recorded as a contra-
debt balance in Term loan, net of current portion in the condensed consolidated balance sheets and are amortized over the remaining life of the loan using 
the effective interest method. The financing costs associated with the 2021 Revolving Line of Credit are recorded in Other assets in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheet are amortized over the life of the arrangement. At June 30, 2022, the unamortized financing costs were $0.6 million.

12. Fair Value Measurements 

ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset, or paid to 
transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date, and establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that 
prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value as follows:

Level 1 - Observable inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, including the Company’s own assumptions in determining fair value. 

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to the three-level fair value hierarchy consist principally of cash and equivalents, short-term 
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, long-term and short-term debt and contingent consideration payable. The estimated fair value of cash 
included in cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximates their carrying value due to due to their short maturities (less 
than 12 months). 

Debt

The Company’s short- and long-term debt are recorded at their carrying values in the condensed consolidated balance sheets, which may differ from 
their respective fair values. The carrying values and estimated fair values of the Company’s short- and long-term debt approximate their carrying values as 
of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, based on interest rates currently available to the Company for similar borrowings. 

Money market funds (included in cash and cash equivalents)

Money market funds are recorded at fair value using quoted market prices in active markets and are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.

Short-term investments

The Company utilizes a third-party pricing service for the valuation of its short-term investments. U.S. treasuries consist of short-term treasury bills 
that are recorded at fair value using market information obtained from dealers and brokers and classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Commercial 
paper is carried at fair value, which is determined using a market yield curve-based approach based on observable inputs. Commercial paper is classified as 
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

Derivative financial instruments

Currently, the Company uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk. The valuation of these instruments is determined using widely accepted 
valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of 
the derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities. 

To comply with the provisions of ASC 820, the Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own 
nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements.   

Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the 
credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of 
default by the Company and its counterparties.  The Company has determined that the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments made 
to its derivative contracts, which determination was based on the fair value of each individual contract, was not significant to the overall valuation. As a 
result, all of its derivatives held as of June 30, 2022 were classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
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Contingent consideration

The deferred consideration that resulted from the acquisition of Analytical Wizards in the first quarter of 2022, which is subject to the meeting of 
certain expense control metrics during the two-year period following the AW acquisition, is measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair value was 
estimated based on the present value of the amount expected to be paid at the end of the measurement period. At June 30, 2022, the fair value of the 
contingent consideration was estimated to be $1.0 million and is included in other long-term liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

The contingent consideration that resulted from the earn-outs associated with the acquisition of Monocl Holding Company in October of 2020, 
which was included in accrued expense and other current liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021 was paid in the 
first quarter of 2022. 

Earnout liabilities are classified within Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy because the methodology used to develop the estimated fair value includes 
significant unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions. The table below presents a reconciliation of earnout liabilities measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

(in thousands)  June 30,
2022   December 31,

2021  

Balance at beginning of period  $ 7,500   $ 5,236  
Additions   1,000    —  
Net change in fair value and other adjustments   —    3,764  
Payments   (7,500 )   (1,500 )

Balance at end of period  $ 1,000   $ 7,500  

Non-recurring fair value measurements

Certain assets and liabilities, including property, plant and equipment, lease right-of-use assets, goodwill and other intangible assets, are measured at 
fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets are remeasured when the derived fair value is below the carrying value on the Company’s condensed 
consolidated balance sheet. For these assets, the Company does not periodically adjust carrying value to fair value except in the event of impairment. When 
impairment has occurred, the Company measures the required charges and adjusts the carrying value as discussed in Note 2. Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies of the notes to the consolidated financial statements in the Company’s 2021 Form 10-K. 

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, in relation to our office relocations, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1.0 
million, comprised of $0.9 million relating to the operating lease right-of-use assets, and $0.1 million relating to the leasehold improvements. The fair value 
determination was based on valuation techniques using the best information available and included comparable market information and discounted cash 
flow projections.

At June 30, 2022, additional assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows:

(in thousands)  Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Assets:             

Cash and cash equivalents:             
Money market funds  $ 432   $ 432   $ —   $ —  
Commercial paper (maturities less than 90 
days)   7,990    —    7,990    —  

Short-term investments:             
U.S. Treasuries   59,894    —    59,894    —  
Commercial paper   58,322    —    58,322    —  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets:             
Interest rate swap contracts   1,453    —    1,453    —  

Other Assets:             
Interest rate swap contracts   1,887    —    1,887    —  

Liabilities:             
Other long-term liabilities:             

Contingent consideration   1,000    —    —    1,000  

At December 31, 2021, except for the contingent consideration noted above, the estimated fair values of all of the Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities subject to the three-level fair value hierarchy approximated their carrying values due to their short-term maturities (less than 12 months). 
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13. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following: 

(in thousands)  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Payroll and payroll-related  $ 7,403   $ 10,311  
Contingent consideration, current   —    7,500  
Sales, franchise and other taxes   3,133    1,785  
Other   4,146    3,062  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $ 14,682   $ 22,658  

 

14. Noncontrolling Interest

Definitive Healthcare Corp. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Definitive OpCo, and through Definitive OpCo and its 
subsidiaries, conducts its business. Accordingly, Definitive Healthcare Corp. consolidates the financial results of Definitive OpCo, and reports the 
noncontrolling interests of its consolidated subsidiaries on its condensed consolidated financial statements based on the Definitive OpCo Units held by 
Continuing LLC Members. Changes in Definitive Healthcare Corp.'s ownership interest in its consolidated subsidiaries are accounted for as equity 
transactions. As such, future redemptions or direct exchanges of Definitive OpCo Units by Continuing LLC Members will result in a change in ownership 
and reduce or increase the amount recorded as noncontrolling interests and increase or decrease additional paid-in capital in the Company’s Condensed 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, 3,442,891 Definitive OpCo Units held by Continuing LLC Members were exchanged for shares of 
Class A Common Stock of Definitive Healthcare Corp. pursuant to the terms of the Amended LLC Agreement. In addition, 11,729 restricted stock units 
vested, resulting in the issuance of 11,729 shares of Class A Common Stock of Definitive Healthcare Corp., for which Definitive OpCo Units were issued 
on a one-for-one basis pursuant to the Definitive OpCo second amended and restated limited liability company agreement entered into in connection with 
the IPO.

As of June 30, 2022, Definitive Healthcare Corp. held 100,484,715 units in the Definitive OpCo resulting in an ownership interest of 65.8% and a 
noncontrolling interest of 34.2%. 

15. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarize the changes in accumulated balances of other comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 
and 2021, respectively. 

 Three Months Ended June 30, 2022   Six Months Ended June 30, 2022  

(in thousands)

Unrealized Gains 
on Cash Flow 

Hedges  

Unrealized 
Loss on 

Investments  

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments  Total   

Unrealized 
Gains on 

Cash Flow 
Hedges  

Unrealized 
Loss on 

Investments  

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments  Total  

Beginning balance $ 1,049  $ (197 ) $ 66  $ 918   $ —  $ —  $ 62  $ 62  
Other comprehensive income (loss) before 
reclassifications  825   (93 )  68   800    1,874   (290 )  72   1,656  
Amounts reclassified from AOCI  276   —   —   276    276   —   —   276  
Ending balance at June 30, 2022 $ 2,150  $ (290 ) $ 134  $ 1,994   $ 2,150  $ (290 ) $ 134  $ 1,994  
 
 Three months ended June 30, 2021   Six months ended June 30, 2021  

(in thousands)

Unrealized Gains 
on Cash Flow 

Hedges  

Unrealized 
Loss on 

Investments  

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments  Total   

Unrealized 
Gains on 

Cash Flow 
Hedges  

Unrealized 
Loss on 

Investments  

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments  Total  

Beginning balance $ —  $ —  $ 32  $ 32   $ —  $ —  $ (131 ) $ (131 )
Other comprehensive income (loss)  —   —   (19 )  (19 )   —   —   144   144  
Ending balance at June 30, 2021 $ ––  $ ––  $ 13  $ 13   $ ––  $ ––  $ 13  $ 13  
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16. Equity-Based Compensation 

Equity-based compensation expense is allocated to all departments based on the recipients of the compensation. A summary of the expense by line 
item in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, is provided in the 
following table.

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Cost of revenue  $ 230   $ 16   $ 462   $ 31  
Sales and marketing   5,056    139    8,802    241  
Product development   1,841    78    3,130    154  
General and administrative   1,878    1,382    3,483    1,595  
Total compensation expense  $ 9,005   $ 1,615   $ 15,877   $ 2,021  

2021 Equity Incentive Plan

The Definitive Healthcare Corp. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) was adopted in September 2021. The types of grants available under 
the 2021 Plan include stock options (both incentive and non-qualified), stock appreciation rights ("SARs"), restricted stock awards ("RSAs"), restricted 
stock units ("RSUs"), and stock-based awards.

 The aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock available for grant under the 2021 Plan was 5,214,689 shares at June 30, 2022. As of 
June 30, 2022, 3,774,350 shares have been granted under the 2021 Plan, net of forfeitures. The outstanding RSUs have time-based and/or performance-
based vesting criteria. 

Time-Based RSUs

Outstanding time-based RSUs generally vest partially on the one-year anniversary of each grant and quarterly over the subsequent two- or three-year 
period. The following table summarizes the Company’s unvested time-based RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2022:

  Time-Based RSUs  
     Weighted  
  Restricted   Average Grant  
  Stock Units   Date Fair Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2021   1,935,899   $ 32.59  
Granted   1,659,216    22.74  
Vested   (11,729 )   17.11  
Forfeited   (100,857 )   26.65  

Unvested at June 30, 2022   3,482,529   $ 28.12  

The Company recognized $7.0 million and $12.1 million in stock-based compensation expense associated with time-based RSUs in the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022, respectively. Total unrecognized expense for these awards was estimated to be $81.6 million at June 30, 2022, to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.9 years.

Performance-Based RSUs (“PSUs”)

The Company periodically grants PSUs to certain members of the Company’s senior management team subject to the satisfaction of annual and 
cumulative performance conditions and/or market conditions established by the Human Capital Management and Compensation Committee of the Board of 
Directors of Definitive Healthcare Corp. Those PSUs without market-based vesting conditions vest annually over three years subject to the achievement of 
certain performance targets and continued service. Expense for these awards is recognized when it becomes probable that performance measures triggering 
vesting will be achieved.

In May 2022, the Company granted PSUs to a member of the executive leadership team with performance criteria related to the relative ranking of 
the total stockholder return (“TSR”) of the Company’s common stock for the cumulative three-year performance period return relative to the TSR of certain 
peer companies within the Nasdaq Software & Services Index. TSR will be measured based on the 20-trading-day average closing stock price on the first 
day of the performance period compared to the 20-trading-day average closing stock price on the last day of such period, inclusive of applicable cash 
dividend payments. These PSUs subject to the performance criteria will cliff vest after three years, subject to the satisfaction of the performance criteria 
and the executive’s continued employment through the performance period. PSUs may vest in a range between 0% and 300%, based on the satisfaction of 
performance, and no shares will be issued if the minimum applicable performance metric is not achieved. As these PSUs vest based on the achievement of 
market conditions, the grant date fair values were determined using a Monte-Carlo valuation model. The Monte-Carlo valuation model considered a variety 
of potential future share prices for the Company as well as its peer companies in the selected market index. Expense for these awards is recognized ratably 
over the requisite service period based on the fair value of the award.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s unvested PSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2022.

  Performance-Based PSUs  
     Weighted  
  Restricted   Average Grant  
  Stock Units   Date Fair Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2021   164,351   $ 27.00  
Granted   125,000    54.25  
Vested   —    —  
Forfeited   (9,259 )   27.00  

Unvested at June 30, 2022   280,092   $ 39.16  

The number of PSUs awarded represents the target number of shares of common stock that may be earned; however, the actual number of shares 
may vary based on the satisfaction of performance criteria. The Company recognized $0.5 million and $0.7 million in stock-based compensation expense 
associated with PSUs in the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively. Total unrecognized expense for these awards was estimated to be $8.1 
million at June 30, 2022, to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.0 years.

2019 Equity Incentive Plan

The AIDH Topco, LLC 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”) was utilized prior to the Reorganization Transactions and the IPO for the 
issuance of equity awards in the form of Class B units to employees, consultants, directors, managers, or others providing services to the Company. In 
connection with the Reorganization Transactions and the IPO, unvested Class B Units held directly by employees of the Company or indirectly through 
Definitive OpCo, were exchanged for unvested Definitive OpCo units based on their respective participation thresholds and the IPO price of $27.00 per 
share. The Company no longer grants any awards under the 2019 Plan, though previously granted awards under the 2019 Plan remain outstanding and 
governed by the 2019 Plan, including unvested units. 

The following table summarizes the Company’s unvested unit activity.

  Time-Based  
     Weighted  
  Non-Vested   Average Grant  
  Units   Date Fair Value  

Unvested at December 31, 2021   2,756,406   $ 2.02  
Granted   —    —  
Vested   (150,862 )   1.58  
Forfeited   (56,356 )   1.75  

Unvested at June 30, 2022   2,549,188   $ 2.06  

The Company recorded $1.5 million and $3.0 million in stock-based compensation expense associated with these units in the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2022, respectively. The Company recorded $0.6 million and $1.0 million in stock-based compensation expense associated with these units 
in the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. At June 30, 2022, the Company had approximately $12.1 million of unrecognized unit-based 
compensation expense for unvested units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.1 years.

17. Retirement Plan 

The Company has a 401(k) plan covering all employees who have met certain eligibility requirements. The Company made matching contributions 
in accordance with the plan documents. The Company incurred $0.8 million and $1.9 million in employer matching contributions during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, and $0.5 million and $1.2 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively.

18. Income Taxes 

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, management performed an assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets. Management 
determined, based on the accounting standards applicable to such assessment, that there was sufficient negative evidence as a result of the Company’s 
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities and cumulative losses to conclude it was more likely than not that its deferred tax assets would not be realized 
and has recorded a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets that are not more likely than not to be realized. In the event that management was to 
determine that the Company would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, an adjustment to the 
valuation allowance would be made which would reduce the provision for income taxes.
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As of June 30, 2022, the Company has recorded a net deferred tax liability of $85.6 million, of which $10.1 million was recorded as a result of the 
AW acquisition. The net deferred tax liability reflects a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to not be realized as 
well as reversing taxable temporary differences that will not provide a source of taxable income due to attribute limitation rules.

The Company recognizes uncertain income tax positions when it is more-likely-than-not the position will be sustained upon examination. As of June 
30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions and has not recognized any related reserves.

The Company's effective tax rate was 2.2% and 0.0% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and 0.6% and 0.0% for the 
six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the statutory tax rate of 21% due to partnership 
income that is not taxed, the valuation allowance recorded, and foreign tax rates that differ from the U.S. statutory tax rate.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Pursuant to the Company's election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"), the Company expects to obtain an increase in its 
share of the tax basis in the net assets of AIDH Topco, LLC when LLC Interests are redeemed or exchanged by other members. The Company plans to 
make an election under Section 754 of the Code for each taxable year in which a redemption of exchange of LLC Interest occurs. The Company intends to 
treat any redemptions and exchanges of LLC Interest as direct purchases of LLC Interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes. These increases in tax basis 
may reduce the amounts that would otherwise be paid in the future to various tax authorities. They may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future 
dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets.

In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement ("TRA") and has recorded a liability under the TRA of $155.9 
million as of June 30, 2022.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized a TRA remeasurement gain of $3.4 million 
and $3.1 million within Other income (expense), net in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations. Under the TRA, the Company 
generally will be required to pay to the Original LLC Unitholders 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state, or local tax that the 
Company actually realizes directly or indirectly (or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances) as a result of (i) certain tax attributes created as a result 
of any sales or exchanges (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) to or with the Company of their interests in AIDH TopCo, LLC, including 
any basis adjustment relating to the assets of AIDH TopCo, LLC, (ii) existing tax attributes acquired by the Company in the pre-IPO restructuring, and (iii) 
tax benefits attributable to payments made under the TRA. The Company expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of any tax benefits that it may actually 
realize. To the extent that the Company is unable to timely make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments generally will be deferred and 
will accrue interest until paid. No amounts are expected to be paid within the next 12 months. 

19. Loss Per Share 

Basic net loss per share of Class A Common Stock is computed by dividing net income attributable to Definitive Healthcare Corp. by the weighted-
average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding during the period, excluding unvested equity awards and subsidiary member units not 
exchanged. Diluted earnings per share of Class A Common Stock is calculated by dividing net income attributable to Definitive Healthcare Corp, adjusted 
for the assumed exchange of all potentially dilutive securities by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding. 

Prior to the IPO, the Definitive OpCo membership structure included Class A and Class B member units. The Company analyzed the calculation of 
earnings per unit for periods prior to the IPO and determined that it resulted in values that would not be meaningful to the readers of these unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements. Therefore, earnings per share information has not been presented for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2021.

The following table sets forth reconciliations of the numerators and denominators used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share of Class A 
Common Stock for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022. 

(in thousands)
Three Months Ended 

June 30, 2022   
Six Months Ended 

June 30, 2022  
Numerator:      
Net loss $ (9,579 )  $ (22,636 )
Less:  Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests  (4,429 )   (8,862 )
Net loss attributable to Definitive Healthcare Corp. $ (5,150 )  $ (13,774 )

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share of Class A Common Stock for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2022 (per share amounts unaudited).
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(in thousands, except number of shares and per share amounts)
Three Months Ended 

June 30, 2022   
Six Months Ended June 

30, 2022  
Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders      
Numerator:      
Allocation of net loss attributable to Definitive Healthcare Corp. $ (5,150 )  $ (13,774 )
Weighted average number of shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding  99,203,697    98,186,909  
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.05 )  $ (0.14 )

Shares of the Company’s Class B Common Stock do not participate in the earnings or losses of Definitive Healthcare Corp. and are therefore not 
participating securities. As such, separate presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share of Class B Common Stock under the two-class method has 
not been presented. 

The following table presents potentially dilutive securities excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share for the period presented 
because their effect would have been anti-dilutive:

 Six Months Ended June 30, 2022  
Definitive OpCo Units (vested and unvested)  54,745,380  
Restricted Stock Units  3,762,621  

 

20. Segment and Geographic Data 

The Company operates as one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of the Company for which separate financial 
information is available and evaluated regularly by the Company’s chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing 
performance. The chief operating decision maker for the Company is the chief executive officer. The chief executive officer reviews financial information 
presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about revenue by type of service and geographic region, for purposes of allocating 
resources and evaluating financial performance. 

Revenues by geographic area presented based upon the location of the customer are as follows: 

  For the Three Months Ended June 
30,   For the Six Months Ended June 

30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
United States  $ 52,028   $ 38,489   $ 99,608   $ 74,186  
Rest of world   2,520    1,332    5,064    2,571  

Total revenues  $ 54,548   $ 39,821   $ 104,672   $ 76,757  

For a summary of our revenue disaggregated by service, refer to Note 4. Revenue. 

Long-lived assets by geographical region are based on the location of the legal entity that owns the assets. Long-lived assets by geographic area 
presented based upon the location of the assets are as follows: 

(in thousands)  June 30,
2022   December 31,

2021  

United States  $ 4,272   $ 4,705  
Rest of world   488    364  

Total long-lived assets  $ 4,760   $ 5,069  
 

21. Related Parties 

The Company has engaged in revenue transactions within the ordinary course of business with entities affiliated with its private equity Sponsors and 
with members of the Company’s board of directors. During each of the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 the Company recorded revenue of $0.2 
million and $0.3 million, respectively. During each of the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 the Company recorded revenue of $0.4 million. There 
was no associated receivable for the revenue transactions at June 30, 2022. The associated receivable for the revenue transactions amounted to $0.6 million 
at December 31, 2021. 

In the second quarter of 2022, the Company entered into a licensed data master agreement with a data provider, in which one of the Company’s 
affiliates has an indirect financial ownership interest via a minority investment, to provide licensed data. The agreement is effective through August 31, 
2025, and the Company has not incurred costs associated with this agreement in the quarter ending June 30, 2022. 
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  ITEM 2 - MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited interim 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and with our audited Consolidated Financial 
Statements, “Risk Factors,” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our 2021 Form 
10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 15, 2022. 

As discussed in “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking 
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may materially differ from those discussed in such forward-looking statements. Factors 
that could cause or contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in “Risk Factors” under Part 
II, Item 1A in this Quarterly Report and in Part I, Item 1A of our 2021 Form 10-K.

Overview 

Definitive Healthcare is a leading provider of healthcare commercial intelligence. Our solutions provide accurate and comprehensive information on 
healthcare providers and their activities to help our customers optimize everything from product development to go-to-market planning and sales and 
marketing execution. Delivered through our software as a service (“SaaS”) platform, our intelligence has become important to the commercial success of 
our over 2,900 customers as of June 30, 2022. We define a customer as a company that maintains one or more active paid subscriptions to our platform. 

Our customers include biopharmaceutical and medical device companies, healthcare information technology companies, healthcare providers and 
other diversified companies, such as staffing firms, commercial real estate firms, financial institutions and other organizations seeking commercial success 
in the attractive but complex healthcare ecosystem. Within these organizations, our platform is leveraged by a broad set of functional groups, including 
sales, marketing, clinical research & product development, strategy, talent acquisition and physician network management. We offer access to our platform 
on a subscription basis, and we generate substantially all of our revenue from subscription fees.

We were founded in 2011 by our Executive Chairman, Jason Krantz. Mr. Krantz founded the company to provide healthcare commercial 
intelligence that enables companies that compete within or sell into the healthcare ecosystem to make better, informed decisions and be more successful. 
Over time, we have expanded our platform with new intelligence modules, innovative analytics, workflow capabilities and additional data sources.

Any company selling or competing within the healthcare ecosystem is a potential customer for us and contributes to our estimated current total 
addressable market of over $10 billion. In total, we have identified more than 100,000 potential customers that we believe could benefit from our platform.

Recent Developments

Acquisition

On February 18, 2022, the Company purchased the remaining 65% of Analytical Wizard, Inc.’s equity for $65.0 million, net of cash acquired and an 
estimated working capital adjustment and other customary purchase price adjustments. The total purchase consideration of $99.4 million, which includes 
the 35% investment the Company made in AW in December 2021, consisted of $98.4 million in cash consideration, net of working capital adjustments, and 
$1.0 million in estimated contingent consideration. The purchase price was primarily comprised of acquired customer relationships, technology and 
goodwill. The Company has included the financial results of this business in the condensed consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. 
The purchase accounting for this transaction is not yet finalized. Refer to Note 3. Acquisitions in the footnotes to the condensed consolidated financial 
statements included within this Form 10-Q for further information.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic 

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic continue to evolve and its impact on the economy and healthcare ecosystem have been vast. However, other 
than a brief slowdown in new bookings during the second quarter of 2020 at the outset of the pandemic, the pandemic has not adversely affected our 
business, results of operations or financial condition. We continued to invest in our sales force and the business and have not experienced any known 
business disruptions as a result of the pandemic. Most of our services are already delivered remotely or are capable of being delivered remotely. We have 
demonstrated our agility to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic by introducing information on telehealth adoption, COVID-19 analytics and more. We also 
benefitted from reduced travel expenses and continued to invest in talent and technology. The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may impact our 
financial condition or results of operations over the medium-to-long term, however, remains uncertain. We will continue to actively monitor the 
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pandemic and may take further actions that alter our business operations as may be required by federal, state or local authorities, or that we determine are in 
the best interests of our employees, customers and stockholders. 

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance 

We believe that the growth and future success of our business depend on many factors, including the following: 

Acquiring New Customers 

We plan to continue to organically grow the number of customers that use our platform by increasing demand for our platform and penetrating our 
addressable market. Our results of operations and growth prospects will depend in part on our ability to attract new customers. We intend to drive new 
customer acquisition with our efficient go-to-market engine by continuing to invest in our sales and marketing efforts and developing new use cases for our 
platform. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had over 2,900 and 2,800 customers, respectively. We have identified more than 100,000 
potential customers across the healthcare ecosystem that we believe could benefit from our platform. Our ability to attract and acquire new customers is 
dependent on the strength of our platform and effectiveness of our go-to-market strategy. 

Expanding Relationships with Existing Customers 

We believe there is a significant opportunity to generate additional revenue from our existing customer base. 

Our customers have historically increased their spending by adding intelligence modules and expanding use-cases across departments. Our 
customers are typically assigned to one of our vertically-focused teams, which is responsible for driving usage and increasing adoption of the platform, 
identifying expansion opportunities and driving customer renewals. Real-time input from these customer-centric teams is fed directly into our product 
innovation teams, enhancing the development of new intelligence modules. We believe this feedback loop and our ability to innovate creates significant 
opportunities for continual existing customer expansion. 

Our platform currently offers 19 intelligence modules. Our success in expanding usage of our platform with our existing customers is demonstrated 
by our NDR, which is further described below. 

Continuing to Innovate and Expand Our Platform 

The growth of our business is driven in part by our ability to apply our deep healthcare domain expertise to innovate and expand our platform. We 
have continually created new products since our founding in 2011 and have launched 19 highly integrated intelligence modules to date. We plan to continue 
to invest significantly into our engineering and research and development efforts to enhance our capabilities and functionality and facilitate the expansion 
of our platform to new use cases and customers. In addition, we work to continuously release updates and new features. While we are primarily focused on 
organic investments to drive innovation, we will also evaluate strategic acquisitions and investments that further expand our platform. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe certain non-GAAP measures are useful in evaluating our operating 
performance. Non-GAAP measures include, but are not limited to, Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Gross Margin, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted 
EBITDA Margin. We believe these non-GAAP measures are useful to investors because they eliminate certain non-cash items and items that affect period-
over-period comparability and provide consistency with past financial performance and additional information about our underlying results and trends by 
excluding certain items that may not be indicative of our business, results of operations, or outlook.

We view Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Gross Margin, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin as operating performance measures. As 
such, we believe the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin is GAAP Gross Profit, and 
the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin is GAAP net loss.

Non-GAAP measures are supplemental financial measures of our performance, and should not be considered substitutes for net loss, gross profit or 
any other measure derived in accordance with GAAP. This information should be read only in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. There are limitations to these non-GAAP financial measures because they are not prepared in accordance 
with GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies due to potential differences in methods of calculation and items or 
events being adjusted. In addition, other companies may use different measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of 
our non-GAAP financial measures as tools for comparison. A reconciliation is provided below for each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly 
comparable financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP.
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Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin 

We define Adjusted Gross Profit as revenue less cost of revenue, excluding acquisition-related depreciation and amortization, and a small quantity 
of stock-based compensation. Adjusted Gross Profit differs from Gross Profit, in that Gross Profit includes the impact of acquisition-related depreciation 
and amortization expense and stock-based compensation. We exclude acquisition-related depreciation and amortization expense as they have no direct 
correlation to the cost of operating our business on an ongoing basis. Adjusted Gross Margin is defined as Adjusted Gross Profit as a percentage of 
revenue. These are key metrics used by management and our board of directors to assess our operations. 

The following table presents a reconciliation of Gross Profit to Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin for the periods presented: 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Reported gross profit  $ 42,770   $ 29,952   $ 81,566   $ 57,451  
Amortization of intangible assets resulting from acquisition-
   related purchase accounting adjustments 

 
 5,302    5,042    10,404    10,029  

Equity compensation costs   230    16    462    31  
Adjusted Gross Profit  $ 48,302   $ 35,010   $ 92,432   $ 67,511  
Revenue  $ 54,548   $ 39,821   $ 104,672   $ 76,757  
Adjusted Gross Margin   89 %  88 %  88 %  88 %

 
(a) Amortization of intangible assets resulting from purchase accounting adjustments represents non-cash amortization of acquired intangibles, 

primarily resulting from the Advent Acquisition. 

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

We present “Adjusted EBITDA” as a measure of our operating performance. EBITDA is defined as earnings before (i) debt-related costs, including 
interest expense and loss from extinguishment of debt, (ii) interest income, (iii) provision for taxes, and (iv) depreciation and amortization. Management 
further adjusts EBITDA in its presentation of Adjusted EBITDA to exclude (i) other (income) expense, (ii) equity-based compensation, (iii) acquisition-
related and restructuring expenses and (iv) other non-recurring and one-time expenses. We exclude these items because they are non-cash or non-recurring 
in nature, and therefore we do not believe them to be representative of ongoing operational performance. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is defined as Adjusted 
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are key metrics used by management and our board of directors to 
assess the profitability of our operations. We believe these metrics provide useful measures to investors to assess our operating performance and in 
measuring the profitability of our operations on a consolidated level. 

The following table presents a reconciliation of Net loss to Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented: 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Net loss  $ (9,579 )  $ (15,039 )  $ (22,636 )  $ (25,527 )
Interest expense, net   2,580    8,316    4,464    16,770  
Income tax benefit   (213 )   —    (126 )   —  
Depreciation & amortization   15,774    14,907    31,026    29,594  
EBITDA   8,562    8,184    12,728    20,837  
Other (income) expense, net   (4,002 )   100    (3,901 )   (24 )
Equity-based compensation   9,005    1,615    15,877    2,021  
Transaction and restructuring expenses   2,107    3,431    3,417    3,469  
Other non-recurring items   595    1,069    2,191    2,164  
Adjusted EBITDA  $ 16,267   $ 14,399   $ 30,312   $ 28,467  
Revenue  $ 54,548   $ 39,821   $ 104,672   $ 76,757  
Adjusted EBITDA Margin   30 %   36 %   29 %   37 %

 
(a) Primarily represents foreign exchange and TRA liability remeasurement gains and losses. 
(b) Equity-based compensation represents non-cash compensation expense recognized in association with equity awards made to employees and 

directors. 
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(c) Transaction expenses primarily represent legal, accounting and consulting expenses and fair value adjustments for contingent consideration related 

to our acquisitions. Restructuring expenses relate to impairment and restructuring charges related to office relocations.  
(d) Non-recurring items represent expenses that are typically one-time or non-operational in nature. One-time expenses are comprised primarily of 

professional fees related to financing, capital structure changes and other non-recurring set-up costs related to public company operations for the 
current period, and IPO readiness costs for the prior period.

Key Metrics

We monitor the following key metrics to help us evaluate our business performance, identify financial trends, formulate business plans, and make 
strategic operational decisions.

Net Dollar Retention Rate ("NDR") 

We believe the growth in use of our platform by our existing customers is an important measure of the health of our business and our future growth 
prospects. We evaluate and report on our NDR on an annual basis to measure this growth. We define NDR as the percentage of ARR retained from existing 
customers across a defined period, after accounting for upsell, down-sell, pricing changes and churn. We calculate NDR as beginning ARR for a period, 
plus (i) expansion ARR (including, but not limited to, upsell and pricing increases), less (ii) churn (including, but not limited to, non-renewals and 
contractions), divided by (iii) beginning ARR for a period. 

Current Remaining Performance Obligations ("cRPO")

We monitor current remaining performance obligations as a metric to help us evaluate the health of our business and identify trends affecting our 
growth. cRPO represents the amount of contracted future revenue that has not yet been recognized, including both deferred revenue and non-cancelable 
contracted amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue within the next twelve months. cRPO is not necessarily indicative of future revenue 
growth. In addition to total contract volume, cRPO is influenced by several factors, including seasonality, disparate contract terms, and the timing of 
renewals, because renewals tend to be highest in the fourth quarter. Due to these factors, it is important to review cRPO in conjunction with revenue and 
other financial metrics. 

The following table presents cRPO as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021: 

(in thousands)  June 30,
2022   

December 31,
2021  

Current  $ 163,304   $ 155,134  
Non-current   93,307    95,354  

Total  $ 256,611   $ 250,488  
 

Impact of Acquisitions 

We seek to enhance our platform, data and business through internal development and through acquisitions of and investments in businesses that 
broaden and strengthen our platform. In February 2022, we completed our acquisition of Analytical Wizards, Inc. This acquisition further strengthens our 
data platform and our business. Acquisitions can result in transaction costs, amortization expenses and other adjustments as purchase accounting requires 
that all assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at fair value on the acquisition date. Refer to Note 3. Acquisitions in the notes to our condensed 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q for further details. 

Components of our Results of Operations 

Revenue 

For the six months ended June 30, 2022, we derived approximately 98% of our revenue from subscription services and the remainder from 
professional services. Our subscription services consist primarily of subscription fees for access to our platform. Our subscription contracts typically have a 
term ranging from 1 to 3 years and are non-cancellable. We typically bill for services in advance annually, and we typically require payment at the 
beginning of each annual period. Our subscription revenue is recognized ratably over the contract term. Our professional services revenue typically is 
derived from consulting services which are generally capable of being distinct and can be accounted for as separate performance obligations. Revenue 
related to these professional services is insignificant and is recognized at a point in time, when the performance obligations under the terms of the contract 
are satisfied and control has been transferred to the customer. 
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Cost of Revenue 

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue, excluding amortization of acquired technology and data, consists of direct expenses related to the support and 
operations of our SaaS platform, such as data and infrastructure costs, personnel costs for our professional services, customer support and data research 
teams, such as salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and other employee-related benefits, as well as allocated overheads. We anticipate that we will 
continue to invest in cost of revenue and that cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue will stay consistent or modestly increase as we add to our existing 
intelligence modules and invest in new products and data sources. Cost of data is included in the cost of revenue and is a fundamental driver of innovation. 

Amortization. Includes amortization expense for technology and data acquired in business combinations and asset purchase agreements. We 
anticipate that amortization will only increase if we make additional acquisitions in the future. 

Gross Profit 

Gross profit is revenue less cost of revenue, and gross margin is gross profit as a percentage of revenue. Gross profit and gross margin have been 
and will continue to be affected by various factors, including the costs associated with third-party data and third-party hosting services, leveraging 
economies of scale, and the extent to which we introduce new intelligence modules, features or functionality or expand our customer support and service 
organizations, hire additional personnel or complete additional acquisitions. We expect that our gross profit and gross margin will fluctuate from period to 
period depending on the interplay of these various factors. 

Operating Expenses 

The most significant component of our operating expenses is personnel costs, which consist of salaries, bonuses, sales commissions, stock-based 
compensation, and other employee-related benefits. Operating expenses also include non-personnel costs such as facilities, technology, professional fees, 
and marketing. 

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of personnel costs such as salaries, bonuses, sales commissions, stock-based 
compensation, and other employee-related benefits for our sales and marketing teams, as well as non-personnel costs including overhead costs, technology 
and marketing costs. We expect that sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue may increase in 2022, primarily as a result of compensation 
expense associated with key management-level personnel, partially offset by cost savings resulting from expected operating leverage in the business. We 
continue to hire additional sales and marketing personnel, enhance our digital marketing infrastructure and invest in marketing programs targeting our 
major vertical markets. 

Product development. Product development expenses primarily consist of personnel costs such as salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and 
other employee-related benefits for our engineering, data science and product teams, as well as non-personnel costs including overhead costs. We believe 
that our core technologies and ongoing innovation represent a significant competitive advantage for us, and we expect our product development expenses to 
continue to increase as we further strengthen and enhance our solutions. We anticipate that product development expense as a percentage of revenue will 
stay consistent or modestly increase as we continue to invest in systems optimization and module improvements for our customers, enhance our software 
development team and continue to invest in automation and A.I. to drive higher quality data and deeper insights. 

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel costs such as salaries, bonuses, stock-based 
compensation, and other employee-related benefits for our executive, finance, legal, human resources, IT and operations, and administrative teams, as well 
as non-personnel costs including overhead costs, professional fees and other corporate expenses including expenses associated with operating as a public 
company. We anticipate that general and administrative costs will significantly increase relative to prior periods due to the incremental costs associated 
with operating as a public company, including corporate insurance costs, additional accounting and legal expenses, and additional resources associated with 
controls, reporting, and disclosure. Due primarily to the costs associated with operating as a public company, we expect general and administrative costs as 
a percentage of revenue to increase in 2022, and then stay consistent or modestly decrease thereafter, as we realize operating leverage in the business. 

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expenses consist primarily of amortization of customer relationships and trade names 
primarily as a result of the accounting for the Advent Acquisition, as well as depreciation of property and equipment. We anticipate depreciation of 
property and equipment as a percentage of revenue to moderately decrease, although amortization will increase if we make additional acquisitions in the 
future. 

Transaction and restructuring expenses. Transaction and restructuring expenses are costs directly associated with various acquisition and integration 
activities we have undertaken, primarily accounting and legal due diligence, and consulting and advisory fees as well as expenses related to our office 
relocations. 
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Other Expense, Net 

Other expense, net consists primarily of interest expense, net and other income (expense), net. 

Interest expense, net consists primarily of interest expense on our debt obligations and the amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs, 
less interest income. We expect to realize a reduction in our interest expense during 2022 over prior periods resulting from the repayment of a portion of 
our outstanding indebtedness with the proceeds from the IPO. We also expect that we will eventually see a reduction in our interest expense resulting from 
our interest rate swap agreement, though it may increase interest expense in the short-term.

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of the revaluation of tax receivable agreement liabilities and realized and unrealized gains and losses 
related to the impact of transactions denominated in a foreign currency. Significant changes in the projected liability resulting from the tax receivable 
agreement may occur based on changes in anticipated future taxable income, changes in applicable tax rates or other changes in tax attributes that may 
occur and could affect the expected future tax benefits to be received by us. We do not have significant exposure to foreign exchange volatility and do not 
anticipate foreign currency transaction gains or losses to materially impact our results of operations. 

Results of Operations 

The following table sets forth a summary of our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented: 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Revenue  $ 54,548   $ 39,821   $ 104,672   $ 76,757  
Cost of revenue:             

Cost of revenue exclusive of amortization   6,198    4,570    12,148    8,766  
Amortization   5,580    5,299    10,958    10,540  

Total cost of revenue   11,778    9,869    23,106    19,306  
Gross profit   42,770    29,952    81,566    57,451  

Operating expenses:             
Sales and marketing   23,585    12,884    44,878    24,627  
Product development   8,706    4,277    15,556    8,071  
General and administrative   9,392    6,375    19,846    11,011  
Depreciation and amortization   10,194    9,608    20,068    19,054  
Transaction and restructuring expenses   2,107    3,431    3,417    3,469  

Total operating expenses   53,984    36,575    103,765    66,232  
Loss from operations   (11,214 )   (6,623 )   (22,199 )   (8,781 )

Other income (expense), net:             
Other income (expense), net   4,002    (100 )   3,901    24  
Interest expense, net   (2,580 )   (8,316 )   (4,464 )   (16,770 )

Total other income (expense), net   1,422    (8,416 )   (563 )   (16,746 )
Loss before income taxes   (9,792 )   (15,039 )   (22,762 )   (25,527 )

Income tax benefit   213    —    126    —  
Net loss   (9,579 )   (15,039 )   (22,636 )   (25,527 )

Less: Net loss attributable to Definitive 
OpCo prior to the Reorganization 
Transactions

  -    (15,039 )   -    (25,527 )

Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling 
interests   (4,429 )   -    (8,862 )   -  

Net loss attributable to Definitive 
Healthcare Corp.  $ (5,150 )  $ -   $ (13,774 )  $ -  

Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2021 

Revenue

Revenue increased $14.7 million, or 37%, in the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year, driven by 
higher subscription revenue of $14.1 million. This increase was primarily due to net expansion with existing customers, as well as organic addition of new 
customers, and the addition of new customers resulting from the acquisition of Analytical Wizards.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased $1.9 million, or 19%, in the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year, primarily 
due to increased hosting fees, increases in employee benefit and insurance costs and, to a lesser extent, incremental personnel costs resulting from the 
acquisition of Analytical Wizards.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased $17.4 million, or 48%, during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year. 
The increase was primarily due to: 

• An increase in sales and marketing expense of $10.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, due primarily to increased personnel 
costs resulting from additional hiring, as well as increases in stock-based compensation expense and in employee benefit and insurance costs; 

• An increase in product development expense of $4.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, due primarily to increased personnel 
costs resulting from additional hiring and increases in stock-based compensation expense and in employee benefit and insurance costs;

• An increase in general and administrative expense of $3.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, due primarily to increased 
personnel costs arising from additional hiring and increases in employee benefit and insurance costs, as well as increases in stock-based 
compensation expense and additional accounting and legal expenses resulting from the transition to becoming a publicly traded company;

This increase was partially offset by a decrease in transaction and restructuring expenses of $1.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, 
due primarily to contingent consideration related to the Monocl acquisition recognized during the second quarter of 2021, partially offset by costs 
recognized during the second quarter of 2022 from the acquisition of Analytical Wizards and the restructuring costs.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other expense, net decreased $9.8 million, or 117%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year. This 
was primarily due to a decrease in interest expense, net for the three months ended June 30, 2022, attributable to lower outstanding debt in 2022, as well as 
lower interest rates resulting from the refinancing of the Company’s debt in September of 2021, and to a lesser extent a TRA remeasurement gain of $3.4 
million and realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains in 2022. 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 

Revenue

Revenue increased $27.9 million, or 36%, in the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year, driven by higher 
subscription revenue of $27.2 million. This increase was primarily due to net expansion with existing customers, as well as organic addition of new 
customers, and the addition of new customers resulting from the acquisition of Analytical Wizards.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased $3.8 million, or 20%, in the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year, primarily 
due to increased hosting fees, increases in employee benefit and insurance costs and, to a lesser extent, incremental personnel costs resulting from the 
acquisition of Analytical Wizards.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased $37.5 million, or 57%, during the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year. 
The increase was primarily due to: 

• An increase in sales and marketing expense of $20.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, due primarily to increased personnel 
costs resulting from additional hiring, as well as increases in stock-based compensation expense and in employee benefit and insurance costs; 

• An increase in product development expense of $7.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, due primarily to increased personnel 
costs resulting from additional hiring, as well as increases in stock-based compensation expense and in employee benefit and insurance costs;

• An increase in general and administrative expense of $8.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, due primarily to increased 
personnel costs arising from additional hiring and increases in employee benefit and insurance costs, as well 
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as increases in stock-based compensation expense and additional accounting and legal expenses resulting from the transition to becoming a 
publicly traded company;

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net decreased $16.2 million, or 97%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared with the same period in the prior year, due to 
a decrease in interest expense, net for the six months ended June 30, 2022, attributable to lower outstanding debt in 2022, as well as lower interest rates 
resulting from the refinancing of the Company’s debt in September of 2021, and to a lesser extent a TRA remeasurement gain of $3.1 million and realized 
and unrealized foreign exchange gains in 2022. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Overview 

As of June 30, 2022, we had $228.2 million of cash and cash equivalents, $118.2 million of short-term investments and $75.0 million available 
under our revolving credit facility. Our principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments on hand, primarily from our 
IPO and follow-on offerings, as well as the cash flows we generate from operations. Our principal uses of liquidity have been primarily for investment in 
long-term growth of the business through capital expenditures and acquisitions, as well as debt services and distributions to members of Definitive OpCo. 

All of our business is conducted through Definitive OpCo and its consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates, and the financial results are included in the 
condensed consolidated financial statements of Definitive Healthcare Corp. Definitive Healthcare Corp. has no independent means of generating revenue. 
The Amended LLC Agreement provides that certain distributions will be made to cover Definitive Healthcare Corp.'s taxes and such tax distributions are 
also expected to be used by Definitive Healthcare Corp. to satisfy its obligations under the TRA. We have broad discretion to make distributions out of 
Definitive OpCo. In the event Definitive Healthcare Corp. declares any cash dividend, we expect to cause Definitive OpCo to make distributions to us, in 
an amount sufficient to cover such cash dividends declared by us. Deterioration in the financial condition, earnings, or cash flow of Definitive OpCo and its 
subsidiaries for any reason could limit or impair their ability to pay such distributions. In addition, the terms of our 2021 Credit Agreement contain 
covenants that may restrict DH Holdings and its subsidiaries from paying such distributions, subject to certain exceptions. Further, Definitive OpCo and 
Definitive Healthcare Corp. are generally prohibited under Delaware law from making a distribution to a member to the extent that, at the time of the 
distribution, after giving effect to the distribution, liabilities of Definitive OpCo and DH Holdings (with certain exceptions), as applicable, exceed the fair 
value of its assets. Subsidiaries of DH Holdings are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to DH Holdings.

We believe that our cash flow from operations, availability under the 2021 Credit Agreement and available cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
investments will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for at least the next twelve months. We anticipate that to the extent that we require additional 
liquidity, it will be funded through the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the issuance of additional equity, or a combination thereof. We cannot provide 
assurance that we will be able to obtain this additional liquidity on reasonable terms, or at all.

Additionally, our liquidity and our ability to meet our obligations and fund our capital requirements are also dependent on our future financial 
performance, which is subject to general economic, financial and other factors that are beyond our control. See “Risk Factors” in our 2021 Form 10-K. 
Accordingly, we cannot provide assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available 
from additional indebtedness or otherwise to meet our liquidity needs. If we decide to pursue one or more significant acquisitions, we may incur additional 
debt or sell or issue additional equity to finance such acquisitions, which could possibly result in additional expenses or dilution.

Cash Flows 

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented: 

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021  
Cash provided by (used in):       

Operating activities  $ 29,114   $ 21,941  
Investing activities   (177,033 )   (5,222 )
Financing activities   (11,124 )   (3,062 )

Change in cash and cash equivalents (excluding effect of exchange rate changes)  $ (159,043 )  $ 13,657  
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Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $29.1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2022, primarily as a result of a net loss of $22.6 
million, offset by non-cash charges of $49.0 million. The non-cash charges were primarily comprised of amortization of intangible assets of $29.8 million, 
equity compensation costs of $15.9 million, and amortization of deferred contract costs of $4.0 million, offset by a gain on remeasurement of the tax 
receivable agreement of $3.1 million. The net change in operating assets and liabilities of $2.8 million was primarily the result of a decrease in accounts 
receivable of $15.3 million, an increase in deferred revenue of $1.7 million due to the timing of billings and cash received in advance of revenue 
recognition for subscription services, and a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $1.3 million, partially offset by cash outflows resulting from an 
increase in deferred contract costs of $6.8 million, $6.4 million in payments of contingent consideration arising from the Monocl acquisition, and lower 
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities, collectively, of $2.2 million. 

Net cash provided by operating activities was $21.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily as a result of a net loss of $25.5 
million, which was offset by non-cash charges of $37.8 million and a net change of $9.6 million in our operating assets and liabilities. The non-cash 
charges were primarily comprised of amortization of intangible assets of $28.9 million, a $3.4 million increase in the earnout liability related to the Monocl 
acquisition, equity compensation costs of $2.0 million, amortization of deferred contract costs of $1.9 million, and amortization of debt issuance costs of 
$1.0 million. The change in operating assets and liabilities was primarily the result of a decrease in accounts receivable of $10.5 million and an increase in 
deferred revenue of $7.9 million due to the timing of billings and cash received in advance of revenue recognition for subscription services, partially offset 
by an increase in deferred contact costs of $6.0 million and a net decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $2.1 
million, and an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.6 million. 

Cash Flows used in Investing Activities 

Cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $177.0 million, driven primarily by $163.0 million in purchases of 
short-term investments, partially offset by $44.0 million in maturities of short-term investments, and $56.5 million paid to complete the purchase of 
Analytical Wizards (net of cash acquired).

Cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $5.2 million, resulting from purchases of property, equipment, and 
data.

Cash Flows used in Financing Activities 

Cash used in financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $11.1 million, primarily driven by $5.3 million in tax distributions 
to members, repayments of the 2021 Term Loan of $3.4 million, $1.3 million in payments of deferred equity offering issuance costs, and $1.1 million in 
payments of contingent consideration arising from the Monocl acquisition. 

Cash used in financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $3.1 million, primarily driven by tax distribution payments to 
members of $3.3 million, term loan repayments of $2.3 million, $1.4 million in payments of deferred equity offering issuance costs, and $1.5 million in 
payments of contingent consideration arising from the Monocl acquisition, partially offset by member contributions of $5.5 million. 

Refer to Debt Obligations for additional information related to our debt obligations. 

Debt Obligations

The 2021 Term Loan of $275.0 million has a maturity date of September 17, 2026. The 2021 Term Loan was recorded net of $3.5 million in 
issuance costs, which are amortized to interest expense over the term of the loan using the effective interest method. 

The 2021 Term Loan is subject to annual amortization of principal, payable in equal quarterly installments on the last day of each fiscal quarter, 
commencing on the Initial Amortization Date, equal to approximately 2.5% per annum of the principal amount of the term loans in the first year and 
second year after the Initial Amortization Date and approximately 5.0% per annum of the principal amount of the term loans in the third year, fourth year, 
and fifth year after the Initial Amortization Date. A balloon payment of approximately $220.0 million will be due at maturity. There was $269.8 million 
outstanding on the 2021 Term Loan at June 30, 2022. 

The 2021 Revolving Line of Credit is committed for $75.0 million and has a maturity date of September 17, 2026. There was no outstanding 
balance as of June 30, 2022. 

The 2021 Credit Agreement includes certain financial covenants, and the Company was compliant with its financial covenants under the 2021 
Credit Agreement as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

Tax Receivable Agreement

In connection with the Reorganization Transactions and the IPO, the Company entered into the TRA with certain of our pre- IPO unitholders and the 
former shareholders of certain Blocker Companies. The TRA provides for the payment by Definitive 
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Healthcare Corp. of 85% of the amount of any tax benefits that it actually realizes, or in some cases is deemed to realize, as a result of (i) certain favorable 
tax attributes it acquired from the Blocker Companies in the Reorganization Transactions (including net operating losses and the unamortized portion of the 
increase in tax basis in the tangible and intangible assets of Definitive OpCo and its subsidiaries resulting from the prior acquisitions of interests in 
Definitive OpCo by the Blocker Companies), (ii) tax basis adjustments resulting from the acquisition of LLC Units by Definitive Healthcare Corp. and (iii) 
certain payments made under the TRA.

In each case, these tax basis adjustments generated over time may increase (for tax purposes) the Definitive Healthcare Corp.’s depreciation and 
amortization deductions and, therefore, may reduce the amount of tax that the Definitive Healthcare Corp. would otherwise be required to pay in the future, 
although the IRS may challenge all or part of the validity of that tax basis, and a court could sustain such a challenge. The anticipated tax basis adjustments 
upon redemptions or exchanges of LLC Units may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain assets to the extent tax basis is 
allocated to those assets. The payment obligations under the TRA are an obligation of Definitive Healthcare Corp., but not of Definitive OpCo. Definitive 
Healthcare Corp. expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of realized cash tax benefits. For purposes of the TRA, the realized cash tax benefits will be 
computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of Definitive Healthcare Corp. (calculated with certain assumptions) to the amount of such taxes 
that Definitive Healthcare Corp. would have been required to pay had there been no tax basis adjustments of the assets of Definitive Healthcare Corp. as a 
result of redemptions or exchanges and no utilization of certain tax attributes of the Blocker Companies, and had Definitive Healthcare Corp. not entered 
into the TRA. The term of the TRA will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired, unless (i) Definitive Healthcare Corp. exercises 
its right to terminate the TRA for an amount based on the agreed payments remaining to be made under the agreement, (ii) Definitive Healthcare Corp. 
breaches any of its material obligations under the TRA in which case all obligations (including any additional interest due relating to any deferred 
payments) generally will be accelerated and due as if Definitive Healthcare Corp. had exercised its right to terminate the TRA, or (iii) there is a change of 
control of Definitive Healthcare Corp., in which case, all obligations (including any additional interest due relating to any deferred payments) generally will 
be accelerated and due as if Definitive Healthcare Corp. had exercised its right to terminate the TRA as described above in clause (i). Estimating the 
amount of payments that may be made under the TRA is by its nature imprecise, insofar as the calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of 
factors. The amount of the anticipated tax basis adjustments, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the TRA, will vary depending upon a 
number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the price of shares of our Class A Common Stock at the time of an exchange, the extent to which 
such exchanges are taxable, the amount of tax attributes, and the amount and timing of our income.

We expect that as a result of the size of the anticipated tax basis adjustment of the tangible and intangible assets of Definitive OpCo upon the 
exchange or redemption of LLC Units and our possible utilization of certain tax attributes, the payments that Definitive Healthcare Corp. may make under 
the TRA will be substantial. The payments under the TRA are not conditioned upon continued ownership of us by the exchanging holders of LLC Units. 
See Note 18. Income Taxes in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Capital Expenditures 

Capital expenditures decreased by $3.6 million to $1.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to $5.2 million for the same period 
in the prior year, primarily driven by higher capital expenditures in support of the Company’s growth in the prior year that did not repeat in the first six 
months of 2022. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

As of June 30, 2022, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, which requires us to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and on other factors that we 
believe to be reasonable. Actual results may differ from those estimates. We review these estimates on a periodic basis to ensure reasonableness. Although 
actual amounts may differ from such estimated amounts, we believe such differences are not likely to be material. For additional detail regarding our 
critical accounting policies and estimates including business combinations, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and income taxes, see our 
discussion for the year ended December 31, 2021 included in our 2021 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes to these policies or estimates as of 
June 30, 2022. 

JOBS Act Accounting Election 

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or 
revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have 
elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and 
private companies until the earlier of the date we (i) are no longer an 
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emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our 
financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective 
dates. 

New Accounting Pronouncements 

See new accounting pronouncements described under “—Adoption of Recently Issued Financial Accounting Standards” and “—Recently Issued 
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted” within Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the unaudited interim condensed 
consolidated financial statements. 

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial condition due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our 
market risk exposure is primarily a result of exposure due to potential changes in inflation, interest rates or currency rates. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments primarily consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments in money market funds, U.S. 
government securities and commercial paper. As of June 30, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $228.2 million and short-term investments of 
$118.2 million. 

Our operating results are subject to market risk from interest rate fluctuations on our 2021 Term Loan, which bears a variable interest rate based on 
the LIBO Rate or a Base Rate plus an applicable margin. In order to reduce the interest rate risk on our debt, we have entered into an interest rate swap 
agreement on a portion of our borrowings. As of June 30, 2022, the total principal balance outstanding was $269.8 million. Excluding the effect of the 
interest rate swap agreement, a hypothetical 1.0% increase or decrease in the interest rate associated with borrowings under the 2021 Credit Agreement 
would have resulted in an impact to interest expense of approximately $1.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk 

To date, our sales contracts have been denominated in U.S. dollars. We have one foreign entity established in Sweden and one in India. The 
functional currencies of these foreign subsidiaries are the Swedish Krona and the Indian Rupee, respectively. Monetary assets and liabilities of the foreign 
subsidiaries are re-measured into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the reporting date, non-monetary assets and liabilities are re-measured at 
historical rates, and revenue and expenses are re-measured at average exchange rates in effect during each reporting period. Foreign currency transaction 
gains and losses are recorded to non-operating income (loss). As the impact of foreign currency exchange rates has not been material to our historical 
results of operations, we have not entered into derivative or hedging transactions, but we may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currency 
becomes more significant. 

Impact of Inflation 

We do not believe inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. However, if our costs were to 
become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset higher costs through price increases and our inability or failure to do 
so could potentially harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

Credit Risk 

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other 
receivables. We hold cash with reputable financial institutions that often exceed federally insured limits. We manage our credit risk by concentrating our 
cash deposits with high-quality financial institutions and periodically evaluating the credit quality of those institutions. The carrying value of cash 
approximates fair value. 

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer), of the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2022 to provide reasonable assurance that information to be disclosed 
by us in the reports that we file or 
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submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and 
(ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar 
functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure. 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

During the quarter ended June 30, 2022, no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) 
under the Exchange Act) occurred that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

We are subject to various legal proceedings, claims, and governmental inspections, audits, or investigations that arise in the ordinary course of our 
business. There are inherent uncertainties in these matters, some of which are beyond management’s control, making the ultimate outcomes difficult to 
predict. Moreover, management’s views and estimates related to these matters may change in the future, as new events and circumstances arise and the 
matters continue to develop. Although the outcomes of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, in the opinion of management, the ultimate 
resolution of these matters would not be expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

For a more detailed discussion of our risks and uncertainties, see also Item 1A – Risk Factors in our 2021 Form 10-K. There have been no material 
changes in our risk factors since the filing of our 2021 Form 10-K.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS 

Pursuant to the terms of the Amended LLC Agreement, holders of LLC Units have the right to exchange all or a portion of their LLC Units for 
newly issued shares of Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. Upon any such exchange, a corresponding number of shares of Class B Common 
Stock held by the LLC Unit holder are cancelled.  Such exchanges executed in the second quarter of 2022 are as follows:

Date of Exchange  Number of Shares 
Exchanged  

April 18, 2022   2,613  
April 25, 2022   8,649  
May 2, 2022   75,079  
May 9, 2022   70,097  
May 10, 2022   2,717,042  
June 13, 2022   25,109  
Total   2,898,589  

 

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES 

None. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION 

None. 
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS 

Exhibits filed or furnished herewith are designated by a cross (+); all exhibits not so designated are incorporated by reference to a prior filing as 
indicated. Agreements included as exhibits are included only to provide information to investors regarding their terms. Agreements listed below may 
contain representations, warranties and other provisions that were made, among other things, to provide the parties thereto with specified rights and 
obligations and to allocate risk among them, and no such agreement should be relied upon as constituting or providing any factual disclosures about 
Definitive Healthcare Corp., any other persons, any state of affairs or other matters.

Exhibit
Number

  Description

10.1†  Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2022, by and among Definitive Healthcare, LLC, Definitive 
Healthcare Corp. and Robert Musslewhite (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File 
No. 001-40815) filed with the SEC on May 5, 2022).

10.2†  Executive Chairman Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2022, by and among Definitive Healthcare, LLC, Definitive Healthcare Corp. and 
Jason Krantz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-40815) filed with 
the SEC on May 5, 2022).

10.3 †  Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (333,322 time-based Restricted Stock Units), dated as of May 3, 2022, by and among Definitive 
Healthcare Corp. and Robert Musslewhite.

10.4 †  Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (83,333 time-based Restricted Stock Units), dated as of May 3, 2022, by and among Definitive 
Healthcare Corp. and Robert Musslewhite.

10.5 †  Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (performance-based Restricted Stock Units), dated as of May 3, 2022, by and among Definitive 
Healthcare Corp. and Robert Musslewhite.

31.1 *  Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 *   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 *   Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded 
within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* The certifications attached as Exhibits 31.1, 31.2 and 32.1 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Definitive Healthcare Corp. under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective 
of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

† Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1861795/000119312522142304/d329213dex101.htm
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf 
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

  DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP.
  Registrant
    

August 4, 2022  By:  /s/ Robert Musslewhite
  

Date    Name: Robert Musslewhite
       Title:        Chief Executive Officer and Director

  
August 4, 2022  By:  /s/ Richard Booth

  
Date    Name: Richard Booth
       Title: Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
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Definitive Healthcare Corp.
2021 Equity Incentive Plan

 
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

This Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Definitive Healthcare 
Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Robert Musslewhite (the “Participant”), effective as of May 3, 2022 (the 
“Date of Grant”). 

RECITALS
 
WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Definitive Healthcare Corp. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the 

“Plan”), which is incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Agreement. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in 
this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to those terms in the Plan (or if not defined in the Plan but in the Employment 
Agreement, in the Employment Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Committee has authorized and approved the grant of an Award to the Participant that will 
provide the Participant the opportunity to receive shares of Common Stock upon the settlement of restricted stock units on the 
terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement (“Restricted Stock Units”). 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants set forth in this Agreement, the 
parties agree as follows:

1. Grant of Award.  The Company hereby grants to the Participant, effective as of the Date of Grant, 333,322 Restricted 
Stock Units, on the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement. 

 

2. Vesting and Forfeiture. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement, the Restricted Stock 
Units shall vest as follows:

(a) General. Thirty percent (30%) of the Restricted Stock Units shall vest on the first anniversary of May 4, 2022 
(the “Vesting Start Date”), and the remaining seventy percent (70%) of the Restricted Stock Units shall vest in 
substantially equal installments at the end of each three-month period measured from the first anniversary of the 
Vesting Start Date (each, a “Vesting Date”) for a period of thirty (30) months, subject to the Participant’s 
continued Service through the applicable Vesting Date (except as provided in Section 2(b). 

(b) Termination of Service; Breach. Except as set forth in Section 11 of the Employment Agreement between 
Definitive Healthcare, LLC and the Participant, dated May 4, 2022 (the “Employment Agreement”) and 
notwithstanding Section 11.3 of the Plan, which shall not apply to this Agreement, upon termination of the 
Participant’s Service for any other reason or no reason, any then unvested Restricted Stock Units will be 
forfeited immediately, automatically and without 

 
 



 
 

consideration.  If the Participant breaches and if such breach is capable of being cured in all material respects, 
fails to cure in all material respects, Section 5, 6 or 7 of the Employment Agreement, any vested or unvested 
Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited immediately, automatically and without consideration. 

 

3. Payment

 

(a) Settlement. The Company shall deliver to the Participant within thirty (30) days following each Vesting Date or 
the vesting date under Section 11 of the Employment Agreement, as applicable, a number of shares of Common 
Stock equal to the number of Restricted Stock Units that vested or otherwise became issuable on such date. No 
fractional shares of Common Stock shall be delivered, but shall be delayed until a full share has vested. The 
Company may deliver such shares either through book entry accounts held by, or in the name of, the Participant 
or cause to be issued a certificate or certificates representing the number of shares to be issued in respect of the 
Restricted Stock Units, registered in the name of the Participant.

 

(b) Withholding Requirements. Unless the Company and the Participant otherwise agree, the Company shall deduct 
or withhold from any shares of Common Stock deliverable under this Agreement amounts necessary to satisfy 
all federal, state and local taxes required to be withheld in connection with the settlement of the Restricted Stock 
Units.   In addition, to the extent permitted by the Committee in its sole discretion, subject to Section 16 of the 
Exchange Act, withholding may be satisfied through an open-market, broker-assisted sales transaction pursuant 
to which the Company is promptly delivered the amount of proceeds necessary to satisfy the withholding 
amount, which shall be subject to any terms and conditions imposed by the Committee.  The Company and the 
Participant may also agree to satisfy some or all of any applicable tax withholding obligations by any means 
allowable under Section 14 of the Plan. 

 

4. Non-Disclosure and Non-Use of the Company’s Trade Secrets or Confidential Information

 

(a) At all times during and following Participant’s Service, Participant agrees that he or she will not, either directly 
or indirectly, and Participant will not permit any 
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Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant to, either directly or indirectly, (i) divulge, use, disclose (in 
any way or in any manner, including by posting on the Internet), reproduce, distribute, or reverse engineer or 
otherwise provide the Company’s Trade Secrets or Confidential Information to any person, firm, corporation, 
reporter, author, producer or similar person or entity; (ii) take any action that would make available Trade 
Secrets or Confidential Information to the general public in any form; (iii) take any action that uses Trade 
Secrets or Confidential Information to solicit any client or prospective client of the Company; or (iv) take any 
action that uses Trade Secrets or Confidential Information for solicitation or marketing for any service or 
product or on Participant’s behalf or on behalf of any entity other than the Company with which Participant may 
become associated, except (i) as required in connection with the performance of such Participant’s duties to the 
Company, (ii) as required to be included in any report, statement or testimony requested by any municipal, state 
or national regulatory body having jurisdiction over Participant or any Covered Entity which is Controlled by 
Participant, (iii) as required in response to any summons or subpoena or in connection with any litigation, (iv) to 
the extent necessary in order to comply with any law, order, regulation, ruling or governmental request 
applicable to Participant or any Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant, (v) as required in connection 
with an audit by any taxing authority, or (vi) as permitted by the express written consent of the Board. In the 
event that Participant or any such Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant is required to disclose 
Trade Secrets or Confidential Information pursuant to the foregoing exceptions, Participant shall promptly 
notify the Company of such pending disclosure and assist the Company (at the Company’s expense) in seeking 
a protective order or in objecting to such request, summons or subpoena with regard to the Trade Secrets or 
Confidential Information. If the Company does not obtain such relief after a period that is reasonable under the 
circumstances, Participant (or such Covered Entity) may disclose that portion of the Trade Secrets or 
Confidential Information which counsel to such party advises such party that they are legally compelled to 
disclose. In such cases, Participant shall promptly provide the Company with a copy of the Trade Secrets or 
Confidential Information so disclosed. This provision applies without limitation to unauthorized use of Trade 
Secrets or Confidential Information in any medium, writings of any kind containing such information or 
materials, including books, and articles, blogs, websites, or writings of any other kind, or film, videotape, or 
audiotape. If, and only if, the controlling state law applicable to Participant requires a time limit to be placed on 
restrictions concerning the post-employment use of Confidential Information for the restriction to be 
enforceable, then this restriction on Participant’s use of Confidential Information that is not a Trade Secret will 
expire two (2) years after Participant’s employment or other association with the Company ends. This time limit 
will not apply to Confidential Information that qualifies as a Trade Secret. The Company’s trade secrets will 
remain protected for as long as they qualify as trade secrets under applicable law. 
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(b) Notwithstanding Participant’s confidentiality obligations set forth in this Section 4, Participant understands that, 
pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Participant shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under 
any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a Trade Secret that: (i) is made (x) in confidence to a 
Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (y) solely for the 
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other 
document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. Participant understands that in 
the event it is determined that disclosure of the Trade Secrets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or 
Affiliates was not done in good faith pursuant to the above, Participant shall be subject to substantial damages 
under federal criminal and civil law, including punitive damages and attorneys’ fees.

 

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, nothing in this Agreement shall limit or interfere 
with Participant’s right, without notice to or authorization of the Company, to communicate and cooperate in 
good faith with a Government Agency for the purpose of (i) reporting a possible violation of any U.S. federal, 
state, or local law or regulation, (ii) participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted or 
managed by any Government Agency, including by providing documents or other information, or (iii) filing a 
charge or complaint with a Government Agency. For purposes of this Agreement, “Government Agency” means 
the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board, the Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, the Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority, or any other self-regulatory organization or any other federal, state or local governmental agency or 
commission.

 

(d) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 4, the terms of Section 5 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply for purposes of the Participant’s obligations regarding the use or disclosure of the 
Company’s confidential information and trade secrets.

 

5. Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation. During the term of Participant’s Service and for 12 months following the termination 
of Participant’s Service (the “Restricted Period”):

 

(a) Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, director, 
manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity (including, without 
limitation, any competitor 
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of the Company), other than the Company, engage in or assist any other person or entity to engage in any 
business which competes with any business in which the Company is engaging or the actual or demonstrably 
anticipated research or development of the Company (a “Competing Business”), during the Participant’s 
employment, anywhere in the United States or anywhere else in the world where the Company does business or 
plans to do business or is considering doing business  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Participant’s (x) 
discretionary ownership of less than three percent (3%) and (y) non-discretionary (for example through a mutual 
fund or other investment vehicle not controlled by Participant) ownership of the outstanding stock of any 
publicly-traded corporation shall not be deemed a violation of this Section 5(a);

 

(b) the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, 
director, manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity solicit or 
endeavor to entice away from the Company, endeavor to reduce the amount of business conducted with the 
Company by or otherwise interfere with the business relationship of the Company with any person or entity who 
is, or was within the one-year period immediately prior thereto, a customer or client of, supplier, vendor or 
service provider to, or other party having business relations with the Company; and

 

(c) the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, 
director, manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity solicit or 
endeavor to entice away from the Company, or offer employment or any consulting arrangement to, or 
otherwise interfere with the business relationship of the Company with any person or entity who is, or was 
within the one-year period immediately prior thereto, employed by, associated with or a consultant to the 
Company.

 

(d) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 5, the terms of Sections 6 and 7 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply for purposes of the Participant’s obligations regarding non-competition and non-
solicitation.

 
6. Enforcement; Remedies. Participant acknowledges that Participant’s expertise in the business of the Company is of a special 

and unique character which gives this expertise a particular value, and that a breach of Sections 4 or 5 by Participant will 
cause serious and potentially irreparable harm to the Company. Participant therefore acknowledges that a breach of Sections 
4 or 5 by Participant cannot be adequately compensated in an action for damages at law, and equitable relief would be 
necessary to protect the Company from a violation of this Agreement 
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and from the harm which this Agreement is intended to prevent. By reason thereof, Participant acknowledges that the 
Company is entitled, in addition to any other remedies it may have under this Agreement or otherwise, to preliminary and 
permanent injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent or curtail any breach of this Agreement. Participant acknowledges, 
however, that no specification in this Agreement of a specific legal or equitable remedy may be construed as a waiver of or 
prohibition against the Company pursuing other legal or equitable remedies in the event of a breach of this Agreement by 
Participant. For purposes of Sections 4 and 5, “Company” shall specifically include the Company and its direct and indirect 
parent entities, subsidiaries, successors and assigns. If Participant fails to comply with a restriction in this Agreement that 
applies for a limited period of time after employment, the time period for that restriction will be extended by the greater of 
either: one day for each day Participant is found to have violated the restriction, or the length of the legal proceeding 
necessary to secure enforcement of the restriction; provided, however, that this extension of time shall be capped so that the 
extension of time does not exceed two years from the date their employment ended, and if this extension would make the 
restriction unenforceable under applicable law it will not be applied (“Fairness Extension”). If Participant resides or works in 
Massachusetts, the Fairness Extension will only apply to the restrictions in Section 5(b) and (c) and will only apply to the 
non-competition restriction in Section 5(a) if Participant breaches their fiduciary duty and/or has unlawfully taken, physically 
or electronically, any Company records.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms of Section 8 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply.

 
7. Definitions.   To the extent used expressly in this Agreement, the following definitions shall apply.  To the extent the same 

term is defined in the Employment Agreement, the term as defined in the Employment Agreement shall apply.

 

(a) “Confidential Information” means any data or information, without regard to form, other than Trade Secrets, 
that is valuable to the Company and is not generally known by the public. To the extent consistent with the 
foregoing, Trade Secrets or Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to: (i) the names, addresses, 
phone numbers, accounts, financial information, and other information concerning patients, referral sources, 
payors (employers, managed care organizations, workers compensation insurers, and other types of payors) and 
other clients of the Company; (ii) non-public information and materials describing or relating to the Company’s 
business or financial affairs, including but not limited to financial and/or investment performance information, 
personnel matters, products, operating procedures, organizational responsibilities, marketing matters, or policies 
or procedures of the Company; or (iii) information and materials describing the Company’s existing or new 
products and services, including analytical data and techniques, and product, service or marketing concepts 
under development at or for the Company, and the status of such development. Trade Secrets or Confidential 
Information does not include information that, other than as a result of a breach by Participant of this 
Agreement, (x) is or becomes generally known within the relevant industry, or (y) 
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is or becomes known to Participant other than through Participant’s work for the Company, or (z) is or becomes 
generally available to the public.

 

(b) “Control” means (i) in the case of a corporate entity, direct or indirect ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) 
of the stock or securities entitled to vote for the election of directors; and (ii) in the case of a non-corporate 
entity (such as a limited liability company, partnership or limited partnership), either (x) direct or indirect 
ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) of the equity interests in such entity, or (y) the power to direct the 
management and policies of such entity.

 

(c) “Covered Entity” means every Affiliate of Participant, and every business, association, trust, corporation, 
partnership, limited liability company, proprietorship or other entity in which Participant has an investment 
(whether through debt or equity securities), or maintains any capital contribution or made any outstanding 
advances to, or in which any Affiliate of Participant has an ownership interest or profit sharing percentage, or a 
firm from which Participant or any Affiliate of Participant receives or is entitled to receive income, 
compensation or consulting fees in which Participant or any Affiliate of Participant has an interest as a lender 
(other than solely as a trade creditor for the sale of goods or provision of services that do not otherwise violate 
the provisions of this Agreement). The agreements of Participant contained herein specifically apply to each 
entity which is presently a Covered Entity (so long as it remains a Covered Entity) or which becomes a Covered 
Entity subsequent to the date of this Agreement.

 

(d) “Trade Secrets” means information, without regard to form, including, but not limited to, technical or 
nontechnical data, a formula, a pattern, a compilation, a program, a device, a method, a technique, a drawing, a 
process, a prototype, financial data, financial plans, product plans, or a list of actual or potential customers or 
suppliers which is not commonly known by or available to the public and which information: (i) derives 
economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by 
proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and (ii) is the subject 
of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. Trade Secrets also include any 
information or data described above that the Company obtains from another party and that the Company treats 
as proprietary or designates as a Trade Secrets, whether or not owned or developed by the Company.
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8. Miscellaneous Provisions

 

(a) Rights of a Shareholder; Dividend Equivalents. Prior to settlement of the Restricted Stock Units in shares of 
Common Stock, neither the Participant nor the Participant’s representative will have any rights as a shareholder 
of the Company with respect to any shares of Common Stock underlying the Restricted Stock Units. If cash 
dividends or other cash distributions are paid in respect of the shares of Common Stock underlying unvested 
Restricted Stock Units, then a dividend equivalent equal to the amount paid in respect of one Share shall 
accumulate and be paid with respect to each unvested Restricted Stock Unit at the time of settlement of the 
Restricted Stock Units.

 

(b) Transfer Restrictions. The shares of Common Stock delivered hereunder will be subject to such stop transfer 
orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the Plan or the rules, regulations and 
other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which such shares are 
listed, any applicable federal or state laws and any agreement with, or policy of, the Company or the Committee 
to which the Participant is a party or subject, and the Committee may cause orders or designations to be placed 
upon the books and records of the Company’s transfer agent to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

 

(c) Clawback Policy.  The Participant acknowledges that the Participant is subject to the provisions of Section 12 
(Forfeiture Events) and Section 14.6 (Trading Policy and Other Restrictions) of the Plan and any compensation 
recovery, “clawback” or similar policy adopted by the Company from time to time and/or made applicable by 
law including the provisions of Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
and Act and the rules, regulations and requirements adopted thereunder by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and/or any national securities exchange on which the Company’s equity securities may be listed. 

 

(d) Adjustments. In the event of any change with respect to the outstanding shares of Common Stock contemplated 
by Section 4.5 of the Plan, the Restricted Stock Units shall be adjusted in accordance with Section 4.5 of the 
Plan. 
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(e) No Right to Continued Service.  Nothing in this Agreement or the Plan confers upon the Participant any right to 
continue in Service for any period of specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the 
rights of the Company (or any Subsidiary retaining the Participant) or of the Participant, which rights are hereby 
expressly reserved by each, to terminate his or her Service at any time and for any reason, with or without cause, 
subject to compliance with the terms of the Employment Agreement.

 

(f) Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Agreement will inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the 
Company and its successors and assigns and upon the Participant, the Participant’s executor, personal 
representative(s), distributees, administrator, permitted transferees, permitted assignees, beneficiaries, and 
legatee(s), as applicable, whether or not any such person will have become a party to this Agreement and have 
agreed in writing to be joined herein and be bound by the terms hereof.

(g) Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any one or more provisions are determined 
to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, then the remaining provisions will nevertheless be 
binding and enforceable.

(h) Amendment.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, this Agreement will not be amended unless the 
amendment is agreed to in writing by both the Participant and the Company.

(i) Choice of Law; Jurisdiction.  This Agreement and all claims, causes of action or proceedings (whether in 
contract, in tort, at law or otherwise) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement will be 
governed by the internal laws of the State of Delaware, excluding any conflicts or choice-of-law rule or 
principle that might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of 
another jurisdiction. This Section 8(i) shall not apply to employees residing in Massachusetts.

(j) Other Restrictive Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other language in this Agreement, this Agreement does not 
supersede, and shall not preclude the enforceability of (in addition to enforcement of this Agreement), any 
restrictive covenant provision contained in any prior or subsequent agreement entered into by the Participant, 
nor shall any subsequent agreement entered into by the Participant be construed or interpreted as amending, 
superseding, overriding, or otherwise precluding the enforceability of the restrictive covenants contained herein 
(including in Sections 4 and 5) unless such subsequent agreement specifically references the applicable 
covenant in this Agreement and expressly states that such covenant shall be superseded. 
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(k) Signature in Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, manually or electronically, each of 
which will be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures to each were upon the same instrument.

(l) Electronic Delivery.  The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to any 
Awards granted under the Plan by electronic means or to request the Participant’s consent to participate in the 
Plan by electronic means.  The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and 
to agree to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the 
Company or another third party designated by the Company.  

(m) Acceptance.  The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and this Agreement.  The 
Participant has read and understands the terms and provisions of the Plan and this Agreement, and accepts the 
Restricted Stock Units subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.  In the event of 
a conflict between any term or provision contained in this Agreement and a term or provision of the Plan, the 
applicable term and provision of the Plan will govern and prevail. The Participant understands they have a right 
to consult with counsel and have been afforded the opportunity to consult with an attorney to the extent they 
wish to do so.

[Signature page follows.]
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 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Participant have executed this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement as 
of the dates set forth below. 

 

PARTICIPANT    DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP.

 

 

______________________________ By: ______________________________

Date: _________________________  Date: _________________________ ____

 

 

 
[Signature Page – Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement]

 



 

Definitive Healthcare Corp.
2021 Equity Incentive Plan

 
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

This Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Definitive Healthcare 
Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Robert Musslewhite (the “Participant”), effective as of May 3, 2022 (the 
“Date of Grant”). 

RECITALS
 
WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Definitive Healthcare Corp. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the 

“Plan”), which is incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Agreement. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in 
this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to those terms in the Plan (or if not defined in the Plan but in the Employment 
Agreement, in the Employment Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Committee has authorized and approved the grant of an Award to the Participant that will 
provide the Participant the opportunity to receive shares of Common Stock upon the settlement of restricted stock units on the 
terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement (“Restricted Stock Units”). 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants set forth in this Agreement, the 
parties agree as follows:

1. Grant of Award.  The Company hereby grants to the Participant, effective as of the Date of Grant, 83,333 Restricted 
Stock Units, on the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement. 

 

2. Vesting and Forfeiture. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement, the Restricted Stock 
Units shall vest as follows:

(a) General. Twenty-five percent (25%) of the Restricted Stock Units shall vest on the first anniversary of May 4, 
2022 (the “Vesting Start Date”), and the remaining seventy-five percent (75%) of the Restricted Stock Units 
shall vest in substantially equal installments at the end of each three-month period measured from the first 
anniversary of the Vesting Start Date (each, a “Vesting Date”) for a period of thirty-six (36) months, subject to 
the Participant’s continued Service through the applicable Vesting Date (except as provided in Section 2(b)).

(b) Termination of Service; Breach. Except as set forth in Section 11 of the Employment Agreement between 
Definitive Healthcare, LLC and the Participant, dated May 4, 2022 (the “Employment Agreement”) and 
notwithstanding Section 11.3 of the Plan, which shall not apply to this Agreement, upon termination of the 
Participant’s Service for any other reason or no reason, any then unvested Restricted Stock Units will be 
forfeited immediately, automatically and without 

 
 



 
 

consideration.  If the Participant breaches and if such breach is capable of being cured in all material respects, 
fails to cure in all material respects, Section 5, 6 or 7 of the Employment Agreement, any vested or unvested 
Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited immediately, automatically and without consideration. 

 

3. Payment

 

(a) Settlement. The Company shall deliver to the Participant within thirty (30) days following each Vesting Date or 
the vesting date under Section 11 of the Employment Agreement, as applicable, a number of shares of Common 
Stock equal to the number of Restricted Stock Units that vested or otherwise became issuable on such date. No 
fractional shares of Common Stock shall be delivered, but shall be delayed until a full share has vested. The 
Company may deliver such shares either through book entry accounts held by, or in the name of, the Participant 
or cause to be issued a certificate or certificates representing the number of shares to be issued in respect of the 
Restricted Stock Units, registered in the name of the Participant.

 

(b) Withholding Requirements. Unless the Company and the Participant otherwise agree, the Company shall deduct 
or withhold from any shares of Common Stock deliverable under this Agreement amounts necessary to satisfy 
all federal, state and local taxes required to be withheld in connection with the settlement of the Restricted Stock 
Units.   In addition, to the extent permitted by the Committee in its sole discretion, subject to Section 16 of the 
Exchange Act, withholding may be satisfied through an open-market, broker-assisted sales transaction pursuant 
to which the Company is promptly delivered the amount of proceeds necessary to satisfy the withholding 
amount, which shall be subject to any terms and conditions imposed by the Committee.  The Company and the 
Participant may also agree to satisfy some or all of any applicable tax withholding obligations by any means 
allowable under Section 14 of the Plan. 

 

4. Non-Disclosure and Non-Use of the Company’s Trade Secrets or Confidential Information

 

(a) At all times during and following Participant’s Service, Participant agrees that he or she will not, either directly 
or indirectly, and Participant will not permit any 
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Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant to, either directly or indirectly, (i) divulge, use, disclose (in 
any way or in any manner, including by posting on the Internet), reproduce, distribute, or reverse engineer or 
otherwise provide the Company’s Trade Secrets or Confidential Information to any person, firm, corporation, 
reporter, author, producer or similar person or entity; (ii) take any action that would make available Trade 
Secrets or Confidential Information to the general public in any form; (iii) take any action that uses Trade 
Secrets or Confidential Information to solicit any client or prospective client of the Company; or (iv) take any 
action that uses Trade Secrets or Confidential Information for solicitation or marketing for any service or 
product or on Participant’s behalf or on behalf of any entity other than the Company with which Participant may 
become associated, except (i) as required in connection with the performance of such Participant’s duties to the 
Company, (ii) as required to be included in any report, statement or testimony requested by any municipal, state 
or national regulatory body having jurisdiction over Participant or any Covered Entity which is Controlled by 
Participant, (iii) as required in response to any summons or subpoena or in connection with any litigation, (iv) to 
the extent necessary in order to comply with any law, order, regulation, ruling or governmental request 
applicable to Participant or any Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant, (v) as required in connection 
with an audit by any taxing authority, or (vi) as permitted by the express written consent of the Board. In the 
event that Participant or any such Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant is required to disclose 
Trade Secrets or Confidential Information pursuant to the foregoing exceptions, Participant shall promptly 
notify the Company of such pending disclosure and assist the Company (at the Company’s expense) in seeking 
a protective order or in objecting to such request, summons or subpoena with regard to the Trade Secrets or 
Confidential Information. If the Company does not obtain such relief after a period that is reasonable under the 
circumstances, Participant (or such Covered Entity) may disclose that portion of the Trade Secrets or 
Confidential Information which counsel to such party advises such party that they are legally compelled to 
disclose. In such cases, Participant shall promptly provide the Company with a copy of the Trade Secrets or 
Confidential Information so disclosed. This provision applies without limitation to unauthorized use of Trade 
Secrets or Confidential Information in any medium, writings of any kind containing such information or 
materials, including books, and articles, blogs, websites, or writings of any other kind, or film, videotape, or 
audiotape. If, and only if, the controlling state law applicable to Participant requires a time limit to be placed on 
restrictions concerning the post-employment use of Confidential Information for the restriction to be 
enforceable, then this restriction on Participant’s use of Confidential Information that is not a Trade Secret will 
expire two (2) years after Participant’s employment or other association with the Company ends. This time limit 
will not apply to Confidential Information that qualifies as a Trade Secret. The Company’s trade secrets will 
remain protected for as long as they qualify as trade secrets under applicable law. 

 

3
 
 

 



 
 

(b) Notwithstanding Participant’s confidentiality obligations set forth in this Section 4, Participant understands that, 
pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Participant shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under 
any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a Trade Secret that: (i) is made (x) in confidence to a 
Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (y) solely for the 
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other 
document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. Participant understands that in 
the event it is determined that disclosure of the Trade Secrets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or 
Affiliates was not done in good faith pursuant to the above, Participant shall be subject to substantial damages 
under federal criminal and civil law, including punitive damages and attorneys’ fees.

 

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, nothing in this Agreement shall limit or interfere 
with Participant’s right, without notice to or authorization of the Company, to communicate and cooperate in 
good faith with a Government Agency for the purpose of (i) reporting a possible violation of any U.S. federal, 
state, or local law or regulation, (ii) participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted or 
managed by any Government Agency, including by providing documents or other information, or (iii) filing a 
charge or complaint with a Government Agency. For purposes of this Agreement, “Government Agency” means 
the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board, the Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, the Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority, or any other self-regulatory organization or any other federal, state or local governmental agency or 
commission.

 

(d) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 4, the terms of Section 5 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply for purposes of the Participant’s obligations regarding the use or disclosure of the 
Company’s confidential information and trade secrets.

 

5. Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation. During the term of Participant’s Service and for 12 months following the termination 
of Participant’s Service (the “Restricted Period”):

 

(a) Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, director, 
manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity (including, without 
limitation, any competitor 
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of the Company), other than the Company, engage in or assist any other person or entity to engage in any 
business which competes with any business in which the Company is engaging or the actual or demonstrably 
anticipated research or development of the Company (a “Competing Business”), during the Participant’s 
employment, anywhere in the United States or anywhere else in the world where the Company does business or 
plans to do business or is considering doing business  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Participant’s (x) 
discretionary ownership of less than three percent (3%) and (y) non-discretionary (for example through a mutual 
fund or other investment vehicle not controlled by Participant) ownership of the outstanding stock of any 
publicly-traded corporation shall not be deemed a violation of this Section 5(a);

 

(b) the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, 
director, manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity solicit or 
endeavor to entice away from the Company, endeavor to reduce the amount of business conducted with the 
Company by or otherwise interfere with the business relationship of the Company with any person or entity who 
is, or was within the one-year period immediately prior thereto, a customer or client of, supplier, vendor or 
service provider to, or other party having business relations with the Company; and

 

(c) the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, 
director, manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity solicit or 
endeavor to entice away from the Company, or offer employment or any consulting arrangement to, or 
otherwise interfere with the business relationship of the Company with any person or entity who is, or was 
within the one-year period immediately prior thereto, employed by, associated with or a consultant to the 
Company.

 

(d) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 5, the terms of Sections 6 and 7 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply for purposes of the Participant’s obligations regarding non-competition and non-
solicitation.

 
6. Enforcement; Remedies. Participant acknowledges that Participant’s expertise in the business of the Company is of a special 

and unique character which gives this expertise a particular value, and that a breach of Sections 4 or 5 by Participant will 
cause serious and potentially irreparable harm to the Company. Participant therefore acknowledges that a breach of Sections 
4 or 5 by Participant cannot be adequately compensated in an action for damages at law, and equitable relief would be 
necessary to protect the Company from a violation of this Agreement 
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and from the harm which this Agreement is intended to prevent. By reason thereof, Participant acknowledges that the 
Company is entitled, in addition to any other remedies it may have under this Agreement or otherwise, to preliminary and 
permanent injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent or curtail any breach of this Agreement. Participant acknowledges, 
however, that no specification in this Agreement of a specific legal or equitable remedy may be construed as a waiver of or 
prohibition against the Company pursuing other legal or equitable remedies in the event of a breach of this Agreement by 
Participant. For purposes of Sections 4 and 5, “Company” shall specifically include the Company and its direct and indirect 
parent entities, subsidiaries, successors and assigns. If Participant fails to comply with a restriction in this Agreement that 
applies for a limited period of time after employment, the time period for that restriction will be extended by the greater of 
either: one day for each day Participant is found to have violated the restriction, or the length of the legal proceeding 
necessary to secure enforcement of the restriction; provided, however, that this extension of time shall be capped so that the 
extension of time does not exceed two years from the date their employment ended, and if this extension would make the 
restriction unenforceable under applicable law it will not be applied (“Fairness Extension”). If Participant resides or works in 
Massachusetts, the Fairness Extension will only apply to the restrictions in Section 5(b) and (c) and will only apply to the 
non-competition restriction in Section 5(a) if Participant breaches their fiduciary duty and/or has unlawfully taken, physically 
or electronically, any Company records.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms of Section 8 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply.

 
7. Definitions.   To the extent used expressly in this Agreement, the following definitions shall apply.  To the extent the same 

term is defined in the Employment Agreement, the term as defined in the Employment Agreement shall apply.

 

(a) “Confidential Information” means any data or information, without regard to form, other than Trade Secrets, 
that is valuable to the Company and is not generally known by the public. To the extent consistent with the 
foregoing, Trade Secrets or Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to: (i) the names, addresses, 
phone numbers, accounts, financial information, and other information concerning patients, referral sources, 
payors (employers, managed care organizations, workers compensation insurers, and other types of payors) and 
other clients of the Company; (ii) non-public information and materials describing or relating to the Company’s 
business or financial affairs, including but not limited to financial and/or investment performance information, 
personnel matters, products, operating procedures, organizational responsibilities, marketing matters, or policies 
or procedures of the Company; or (iii) information and materials describing the Company’s existing or new 
products and services, including analytical data and techniques, and product, service or marketing concepts 
under development at or for the Company, and the status of such development. Trade Secrets or Confidential 
Information does not include information that, other than as a result of a breach by Participant of this 
Agreement, (x) is or becomes generally known within the relevant industry, or (y) 
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is or becomes known to Participant other than through Participant’s work for the Company, or (z) is or becomes 
generally available to the public.

 

(b) “Control” means (i) in the case of a corporate entity, direct or indirect ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) 
of the stock or securities entitled to vote for the election of directors; and (ii) in the case of a non-corporate 
entity (such as a limited liability company, partnership or limited partnership), either (x) direct or indirect 
ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) of the equity interests in such entity, or (y) the power to direct the 
management and policies of such entity.

 

(c) “Covered Entity” means every Affiliate of Participant, and every business, association, trust, corporation, 
partnership, limited liability company, proprietorship or other entity in which Participant has an investment 
(whether through debt or equity securities), or maintains any capital contribution or made any outstanding 
advances to, or in which any Affiliate of Participant has an ownership interest or profit sharing percentage, or a 
firm from which Participant or any Affiliate of Participant receives or is entitled to receive income, 
compensation or consulting fees in which Participant or any Affiliate of Participant has an interest as a lender 
(other than solely as a trade creditor for the sale of goods or provision of services that do not otherwise violate 
the provisions of this Agreement). The agreements of Participant contained herein specifically apply to each 
entity which is presently a Covered Entity (so long as it remains a Covered Entity) or which becomes a Covered 
Entity subsequent to the date of this Agreement.

 

(d) “Trade Secrets” means information, without regard to form, including, but not limited to, technical or 
nontechnical data, a formula, a pattern, a compilation, a program, a device, a method, a technique, a drawing, a 
process, a prototype, financial data, financial plans, product plans, or a list of actual or potential customers or 
suppliers which is not commonly known by or available to the public and which information: (i) derives 
economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by 
proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and (ii) is the subject 
of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy. Trade Secrets also include any 
information or data described above that the Company obtains from another party and that the Company treats 
as proprietary or designates as a Trade Secrets, whether or not owned or developed by the Company.
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8. Miscellaneous Provisions

 

(a) Rights of a Shareholder; Dividend Equivalents. Prior to settlement of the Restricted Stock Units in shares of 
Common Stock, neither the Participant nor the Participant’s representative will have any rights as a shareholder 
of the Company with respect to any shares of Common Stock underlying the Restricted Stock Units. If cash 
dividends or other cash distributions are paid in respect of the shares of Common Stock underlying unvested 
Restricted Stock Units, then a dividend equivalent equal to the amount paid in respect of one Share shall 
accumulate and be paid with respect to each unvested Restricted Stock Unit at the time of settlement of the 
Restricted Stock Units.

 

(b) Transfer Restrictions. The shares of Common Stock delivered hereunder will be subject to such stop transfer 
orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the Plan or the rules, regulations and 
other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which such shares are 
listed, any applicable federal or state laws and any agreement with, or policy of, the Company or the Committee 
to which the Participant is a party or subject, and the Committee may cause orders or designations to be placed 
upon the books and records of the Company’s transfer agent to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

 

(c) Clawback Policy.  The Participant acknowledges that the Participant is subject to the provisions of Section 12 
(Forfeiture Events) and Section 14.6 (Trading Policy and Other Restrictions) of the Plan and any compensation 
recovery, “clawback” or similar policy adopted by the Company from time to time and/or made applicable by 
law including the provisions of Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
and Act and the rules, regulations and requirements adopted thereunder by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and/or any national securities exchange on which the Company’s equity securities may be listed. 

 

(d) Adjustments. In the event of any change with respect to the outstanding shares of Common Stock contemplated 
by Section 4.5 of the Plan, the Restricted Stock Units shall be adjusted in accordance with Section 4.5 of the 
Plan. 
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(e) No Right to Continued Service.  Nothing in this Agreement or the Plan confers upon the Participant any right to 
continue in Service for any period of specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the 
rights of the Company (or any Subsidiary retaining the Participant) or of the Participant, which rights are hereby 
expressly reserved by each, to terminate his or her Service at any time and for any reason, with or without cause, 
subject to compliance with the terms of the Employment Agreement.

 

(f) Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Agreement will inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the 
Company and its successors and assigns and upon the Participant, the Participant’s executor, personal 
representative(s), distributees, administrator, permitted transferees, permitted assignees, beneficiaries, and 
legatee(s), as applicable, whether or not any such person will have become a party to this Agreement and have 
agreed in writing to be joined herein and be bound by the terms hereof.

(g) Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any one or more provisions are determined 
to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, then the remaining provisions will nevertheless be 
binding and enforceable.

(h) Amendment.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, this Agreement will not be amended unless the 
amendment is agreed to in writing by both the Participant and the Company.

(i) Choice of Law; Jurisdiction.  This Agreement and all claims, causes of action or proceedings (whether in 
contract, in tort, at law or otherwise) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement will be 
governed by the internal laws of the State of Delaware, excluding any conflicts or choice-of-law rule or 
principle that might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of 
another jurisdiction. This Section 8(i) shall not apply to employees residing in Massachusetts.

(j) Other Restrictive Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other language in this Agreement, this Agreement does not 
supersede, and shall not preclude the enforceability of (in addition to enforcement of this Agreement), any 
restrictive covenant provision contained in any prior or subsequent agreement entered into by the Participant, 
nor shall any subsequent agreement entered into by the Participant be construed or interpreted as amending, 
superseding, overriding, or otherwise precluding the enforceability of the restrictive covenants contained herein 
(including in Sections 4 and 5) unless such subsequent agreement specifically references the applicable 
covenant in this Agreement and expressly states that such covenant shall be superseded. 
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(k) Signature in Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, manually or electronically, each of 
which will be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures to each were upon the same instrument.

(l) Electronic Delivery.  The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to any 
Awards granted under the Plan by electronic means or to request the Participant’s consent to participate in the 
Plan by electronic means.  The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and 
to agree to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the 
Company or another third party designated by the Company.  

(m) Acceptance.  The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and this Agreement.  The 
Participant has read and understands the terms and provisions of the Plan and this Agreement, and accepts the 
Restricted Stock Units subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.  In the event of 
a conflict between any term or provision contained in this Agreement and a term or provision of the Plan, the 
applicable term and provision of the Plan will govern and prevail. The Participant understands they have a right 
to consult with counsel and have been afforded the opportunity to consult with an attorney to the extent they 
wish to do so.

[Signature page follows.]
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 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Participant have executed this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement as 
of the dates set forth below. 

 

PARTICIPANT    DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP.

 

 

______________________________ By: ______________________________

Date: _________________________  Date: _________________________ ____

 

 

 
[Signature Page – Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement]

 



 
 

Definitive Healthcare Corp.
2021 Equity Incentive Plan

 
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

This Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Definitive Healthcare 
Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Robert Musslewhite (the “Participant”), effective as of May 3, 2022 (the 
“Date of Grant”). 

RECITALS
 
WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Definitive Healthcare Corp. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the 

“Plan”), which is incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Agreement. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in 
this Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to those terms in the Plan (or if not defined in the Plan but in the Employment 
Agreement, in the Employment Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Committee has authorized and approved the grant of an Award to the Participant that will 
provide the Participant the opportunity to receive shares of Common Stock upon the settlement of restricted stock units on the 
terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement (“Restricted Stock Units”). 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants set forth in this Agreement, the 
parties agree as follows:

1. Grant of Award.  The Company hereby grants to the Participant, effective as of the Date of Grant, Restricted Stock Units for 
125,000 shares of Common Stock at “target” performance (as described on Schedule I) (“Target Shares”), and up to 375,000 
shares of Common Stock at “exceptional performance” (as described on Schedule I) (the "Maximum Shares") all of which 
are subject to performance-based vesting on the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement.  The number 
of shares of Common Stock Participant will receive pursuant to this Agreement, if any, may increase or decrease from the 
Target Shares based on the Company’s actual performance, but shall not exceed the Maximum Shares. Prior to issuance of 
any shares of Common Stock, such Restricted Stock Units will represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable 
only from the general assets of the Company.

 

2. Vesting and Forfeiture. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and this Agreement, the Restricted Stock 
Units shall vest as follows:

  

(a) General.  The Restricted Stock Units shall vest as of the date of the Committee’s determination under Schedule I 
(the "Vesting Date") based on achievement of the performance targets set forth on Schedule I, subject to the 
Participant’s continued Service through the Vesting Date, other than as set forth below.
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(b) Termination of Service; Breach. Except as set forth in Section 11 of the Employment Agreement between 
Definitive Healthcare, LLC and the Participant, dated May 4, 2022 (the “Employment Agreement”) and 
notwithstanding Section 11.3 of the Plan, which shall not apply to this Agreement, upon termination of the 
Participant’s Service for any other reason or no reason, any then unvested Restricted Stock Units will be 
forfeited immediately, automatically and without consideration.  If the Participant breaches and if such breach is 
capable of being cured in all material respects, fails to cure in all material respects, Section 5, 6 or 7 of the 
Employment Agreement, any vested or unvested Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited immediately, 
automatically and without consideration. 

 

3. Payment

 

(a) Settlement. The Company shall deliver to the Participant within as soon as administratively practicable 
following the Vesting Date or the time that Participant becomes entitled to receive shares of Common Stock 
under Section 11 of the Employment Agreement, as applicable, a number of shares of Common Stock equal to 
the number of Restricted Stock Units that vested or otherwise became issuable on such date. No fractional 
shares of Common Stock shall be delivered, but shall be delayed until a full share has vested. The Company 
may deliver such shares either through book entry accounts held by, or in the name of, the Participant or cause 
to be issued a certificate or certificates representing the number of shares to be issued in respect of the 
Restricted Stock Units, registered in the name of the Participant.

 

(b) Withholding Requirements. Unless the Company and the Participant otherwise agree, the Company shall deduct 
or withhold from any shares of Common Stock deliverable under this Agreement amounts necessary to satisfy 
all federal, state and local taxes required to be withheld in connection with the settlement of the Restricted Stock 
Units.   In addition, to the extent permitted by the Committee in its sole discretion, subject to Section 16 of the 
Exchange Act, withholding may be satisfied through an open-market, broker-assisted sales transaction pursuant 
to which the Company is promptly delivered the amount of proceeds necessary to satisfy the withholding 
amount, which shall be subject to any terms and conditions imposed by the Committee.  The Company and the 
Participant may also agree to satisfy some or all of any applicable tax withholding obligations by any means 
allowable under Section 14 of the Plan. 
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4. Non-Disclosure and Non-Use of the Company’s Trade Secrets or Confidential Information

 

(a) At all times during and following Participant’s Service, Participant agrees that he or she will not, either directly 
or indirectly, and Participant will not permit any Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant to, either 
directly or indirectly, (i) divulge, use, disclose (in any way or in any manner, including by posting on the 
Internet), reproduce, distribute, or reverse engineer or otherwise provide the Company’s Trade Secrets or 
Confidential Information to any person, firm, corporation, reporter, author, producer or similar person or entity; 
(ii) take any action that would make available Trade Secrets or Confidential Information to the general public in 
any form; (iii) take any action that uses Trade Secrets or Confidential Information to solicit any client or 
prospective client of the Company; or (iv) take any action that uses Trade Secrets or Confidential Information 
for solicitation or marketing for any service or product or on Participant’s behalf or on behalf of any entity other 
than the Company with which Participant may become associated, except (i) as required in connection with the 
performance of such Participant’s duties to the Company, (ii) as required to be included in any report, statement 
or testimony requested by any municipal, state or national regulatory body having jurisdiction over Participant 
or any Covered Entity which is Controlled by Participant, (iii) as required in response to any summons or 
subpoena or in connection with any litigation, (iv) to the extent necessary in order to comply with any law, 
order, regulation, ruling or governmental request applicable to Participant or any Covered Entity which is 
Controlled by Participant, (v) as required in connection with an audit by any taxing authority, or (vi) as 
permitted by the express written consent of the Board. In the event that Participant or any such Covered Entity 
which is Controlled by Participant is required to disclose Trade Secrets or Confidential Information pursuant to 
the foregoing exceptions, Participant shall promptly notify the Company of such pending disclosure and assist 
the Company (at the Company’s expense) in seeking a protective order or in objecting to such request, summons 
or subpoena with regard to the Trade Secrets or Confidential Information. If the Company does not obtain such 
relief after a period that is reasonable under the circumstances, Participant (or such Covered Entity) may 
disclose that portion of the Trade Secrets or Confidential Information which counsel to such party advises such 
party that they are legally compelled to disclose. In such cases, Participant shall promptly provide the Company 
with a copy of the Trade Secrets or Confidential Information so disclosed. This provision applies without 
limitation to unauthorized use of Trade Secrets or Confidential Information in any medium, writings of any kind 
containing such information or materials, including books, and articles, blogs, websites, or writings of any other 
kind, or film, videotape, or audiotape. If, and only if, the controlling state law applicable to Participant requires 
a time limit to be placed on restrictions concerning the 
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post-employment use of Confidential Information for the restriction to be enforceable, then this restriction on 
Participant’s use of Confidential Information that is not a Trade Secret will expire two (2) years after 
Participant’s employment or other association with the Company ends. This time limit will not apply to 
Confidential Information that qualifies as a Trade Secret. The Company’s trade secrets will remain protected for 
as long as they qualify as trade secrets under applicable law. 

 

(b) Notwithstanding Participant’s confidentiality obligations set forth in this Section 4, Participant understands that, 
pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, Participant shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under 
any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a Trade Secret that: (i) is made (x) in confidence to a 
Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (y) solely for the 
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other 
document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. Participant understands that in 
the event it is determined that disclosure of the Trade Secrets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or 
Affiliates was not done in good faith pursuant to the above, Participant shall be subject to substantial damages 
under federal criminal and civil law, including punitive damages and attorneys’ fees.

 

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, nothing in this Agreement shall limit or interfere 
with Participant’s right, without notice to or authorization of the Company, to communicate and cooperate in 
good faith with a Government Agency for the purpose of (i) reporting a possible violation of any U.S. federal, 
state, or local law or regulation, (ii) participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted or 
managed by any Government Agency, including by providing documents or other information, or (iii) filing a 
charge or complaint with a Government Agency. For purposes of this Agreement, “Government Agency” means 
the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board, the Occupational Safety 
and Health Administration, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, the Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority, or any other self-regulatory organization or any other federal, state or local governmental agency or 
commission.

 

(d) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 4, the terms of Section 5 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply for purposes of the Participant’s obligations regarding the use or disclosure of the 
Company’s confidential information and trade secrets.
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5. Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation. During the term of Participant’s Service and for 12 months following the termination 

of Participant’s Service (the “Restricted Period”):

 

(a) Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, director, 
manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity (including, without 
limitation, any competitor of the Company), other than the Company, engage in or assist any other person or 
entity to engage in any business which competes with any business in which the Company is engaging or the 
actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of the Company (a “Competing Business”), during 
the Participant’s employment, anywhere in the United States or anywhere else in the world where the Company 
does business or plans to do business or is considering doing business  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Participant’s (x) discretionary ownership of less than three percent (3%) and (y) non-discretionary (for example 
through a mutual fund or other investment vehicle not controlled by Participant) ownership of the outstanding 
stock of any publicly-traded corporation shall not be deemed a violation of this Section 5(a);

 

(b) the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, 
director, manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity solicit or 
endeavor to entice away from the Company, endeavor to reduce the amount of business conducted with the 
Company by or otherwise interfere with the business relationship of the Company with any person or entity who 
is, or was within the one-year period immediately prior thereto, a customer or client of, supplier, vendor or 
service provider to, or other party having business relations with the Company; and

 

(c) the Participant will not, directly or indirectly, individually or as a consultant to, or an Participant, officer, 
director, manager, stockholder, partner, member or other owner or participant in any business entity solicit or 
endeavor to entice away from the Company, or offer employment or any consulting arrangement to, or 
otherwise interfere with the business relationship of the Company with any person or entity who is, or was 
within the one-year period immediately prior thereto, employed by, associated with or a consultant to the 
Company.

 

(d) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 5, the terms of Sections 6 and 7 of the Employment 
Agreement shall apply for purposes of the Participant’s obligations regarding non-competition and non-
solicitation.

5
 
 

 



 
 
 
6. Enforcement; Remedies. Participant acknowledges that Participant’s expertise in the business of the Company is of a special 

and unique character which gives this expertise a particular value, and that a breach of Sections 4 or 5 by Participant will 
cause serious and potentially irreparable harm to the Company. Participant therefore acknowledges that a breach of Sections 
4 or 5 by Participant cannot be adequately compensated in an action for damages at law, and equitable relief would be 
necessary to protect the Company from a violation of this Agreement and from the harm which this Agreement is intended to 
prevent. By reason thereof, Participant acknowledges that the Company is entitled, in addition to any other remedies it may 
have under this Agreement or otherwise, to preliminary and permanent injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent or 
curtail any breach of this Agreement. Participant acknowledges, however, that no specification in this Agreement of a 
specific legal or equitable remedy may be construed as a waiver of or prohibition against the Company pursuing other legal 
or equitable remedies in the event of a breach of this Agreement by Participant. For purposes of Sections 4 and 5, 
“Company” shall specifically include the Company and its direct and indirect parent entities, subsidiaries, successors and 
assigns. If Participant fails to comply with a restriction in this Agreement that applies for a limited period of time after 
employment, the time period for that restriction will be extended by the greater of either: one day for each day Participant is 
found to have violated the restriction, or the length of the legal proceeding necessary to secure enforcement of the restriction; 
provided, however, that this extension of time shall be capped so that the extension of time does not exceed two years from 
the date their employment ended, and if this extension would make the restriction unenforceable under applicable law it will 
not be applied (“Fairness Extension”). If Participant resides or works in Massachusetts, the Fairness Extension will only 
apply to the restrictions in Section 5(b) and (c) and will only apply to the non-competition restriction in Section 5(a) if 
Participant breaches their fiduciary duty and/or has unlawfully taken, physically or electronically, any Company records.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms of Section 8 of the Employment Agreement shall apply.

 
7. Definitions.   To the extent used expressly in this Agreement, the following definitions shall apply.  To the extent the same 

term is defined in the Employment Agreement, the term as defined in the Employment Agreement shall apply.

 

(a) “Confidential Information” means any data or information, without regard to form, other than Trade Secrets, 
that is valuable to the Company and is not generally known by the public. To the extent consistent with the 
foregoing, Trade Secrets or Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to: (i) the names, addresses, 
phone numbers, accounts, financial information, and other information concerning patients, referral sources, 
payors (employers, managed care organizations, workers compensation insurers, and other types of payors) and 
other clients of the Company; (ii) non-public information and materials describing or relating to the Company’s 
business or financial affairs, including but not limited to financial and/or investment performance information, 
personnel matters, products, operating procedures, 
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organizational responsibilities, marketing matters, or policies or procedures of the Company; or (iii) information 
and materials describing the Company’s existing or new products and services, including analytical data and 
techniques, and product, service or marketing concepts under development at or for the Company, and the status 
of such development. Trade Secrets or Confidential Information does not include information that, other than as 
a result of a breach by Participant of this Agreement, (x) is or becomes generally known within the relevant 
industry, or (y) is or becomes known to Participant other than through Participant’s work for the Company, or 
(z) is or becomes generally available to the public.

 

(b) “Control” means (i) in the case of a corporate entity, direct or indirect ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) 
of the stock or securities entitled to vote for the election of directors; and (ii) in the case of a non-corporate 
entity (such as a limited liability company, partnership or limited partnership), either (x) direct or indirect 
ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) of the equity interests in such entity, or (y) the power to direct the 
management and policies of such entity.

 

(c) “Covered Entity” means every Affiliate of Participant, and every business, association, trust, corporation, 
partnership, limited liability company, proprietorship or other entity in which Participant has an investment 
(whether through debt or equity securities), or maintains any capital contribution or made any outstanding 
advances to, or in which any Affiliate of Participant has an ownership interest or profit sharing percentage, or a 
firm from which Participant or any Affiliate of Participant receives or is entitled to receive income, 
compensation or consulting fees in which Participant or any Affiliate of Participant has an interest as a lender 
(other than solely as a trade creditor for the sale of goods or provision of services that do not otherwise violate 
the provisions of this Agreement). The agreements of Participant contained herein specifically apply to each 
entity which is presently a Covered Entity (so long as it remains a Covered Entity) or which becomes a Covered 
Entity subsequent to the date of this Agreement.

 

(d) “Trade Secrets” means information, without regard to form, including, but not limited to, technical or 
nontechnical data, a formula, a pattern, a compilation, a program, a device, a method, a technique, a drawing, a 
process, a prototype, financial data, financial plans, product plans, or a list of actual or potential customers or 
suppliers which is not commonly known by or available to the public and which information: (i) derives 
economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by 
proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; and (ii) is the subject 
of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its 
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secrecy. Trade Secrets also include any information or data described above that the Company obtains from 
another party and that the Company treats as proprietary or designates as a Trade Secrets, whether or not owned 
or developed by the Company.

 

8. Miscellaneous Provisions

 

(a) Rights of a Shareholder; Dividend Equivalents. Prior to settlement of the Restricted Stock Units in shares of 
Common Stock, neither the Participant nor the Participant’s representative will have any rights as a shareholder 
of the Company with respect to any shares of Common Stock underlying the Restricted Stock Units. If cash 
dividends or other cash distributions are paid in respect of the shares of Common Stock underlying unvested 
Restricted Stock Units, then a dividend equivalent equal to the amount paid in respect of one Share shall 
accumulate and be paid with respect to each unvested Restricted Stock Unit at the time of settlement of the 
Restricted Stock Units.

 

(b) Transfer Restrictions. The shares of Common Stock delivered hereunder will be subject to such stop transfer 
orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the Plan or the rules, regulations and 
other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which such shares are 
listed, any applicable federal or state laws and any agreement with, or policy of, the Company or the Committee 
to which the Participant is a party or subject, and the Committee may cause orders or designations to be placed 
upon the books and records of the Company’s transfer agent to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.

 

(c) Clawback Policy.  The Participant acknowledges that the Participant is subject to the provisions of Section 12 
(Forfeiture Events) and Section 14.6 (Trading Policy and Other Restrictions) of the Plan and any compensation 
recovery, “clawback” or similar policy adopted by the Company from time to time and/or made applicable by 
law including the provisions of Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
and Act and the rules, regulations and requirements adopted thereunder by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and/or any national securities exchange on which the Company’s equity securities may be listed. 
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(d) Adjustments. In the event of any change with respect to the outstanding shares of Common Stock contemplated 
by Section 4.5 of the Plan, the Restricted Stock Units shall be adjusted in accordance with Section 4.5 of the 
Plan. 

 

(e) No Right to Continued Service.  Nothing in this Agreement or the Plan confers upon the Participant any right to 
continue in Service for any period of specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the 
rights of the Company (or any Subsidiary retaining the Participant) or of the Participant, which rights are hereby 
expressly reserved by each, to terminate his or her Service at any time and for any reason, with or without cause, 
subject to compliance with the terms of the Employment Agreement.

 

(f) Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Agreement will inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the 
Company and its successors and assigns and upon the Participant, the Participant’s executor, personal 
representative(s), distributees, administrator, permitted transferees, permitted assignees, beneficiaries, and 
legatee(s), as applicable, whether or not any such person will have become a party to this Agreement and have 
agreed in writing to be joined herein and be bound by the terms hereof.

(g) Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any one or more provisions are determined 
to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, then the remaining provisions will nevertheless be 
binding and enforceable.

(h) Amendment.  Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, this Agreement will not be amended unless the 
amendment is agreed to in writing by both the Participant and the Company.

(i) Choice of Law; Jurisdiction.  This Agreement and all claims, causes of action or proceedings (whether in 
contract, in tort, at law or otherwise) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement will be 
governed by the internal laws of the State of Delaware, excluding any conflicts or choice-of-law rule or 
principle that might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of 
another jurisdiction. This Section 8(i) shall not apply to employees residing in Massachusetts.

(j) Other Restrictive Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other language in this Agreement, this Agreement does not 
supersede, and shall not preclude the enforceability of (in addition to enforcement of this Agreement), any 
restrictive covenant provision contained in any prior or subsequent agreement entered into by the Participant, 
nor shall any subsequent agreement entered into by the Participant 
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be construed or interpreted as amending, superseding, overriding, or otherwise precluding the enforceability of 
the restrictive covenants contained herein (including in Sections 4 and 5) unless such subsequent agreement 
specifically references the applicable covenant in this Agreement and expressly states that such covenant shall 
be superseded. 

(k) Signature in Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, manually or electronically, each of 
which will be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures to each were upon the same instrument.

(l) Electronic Delivery.  The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to any 
Awards granted under the Plan by electronic means or to request the Participant’s consent to participate in the 
Plan by electronic means.  The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and 
to agree to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the 
Company or another third party designated by the Company.  

(m) Acceptance.  The Participant hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and this Agreement.  The 
Participant has read and understands the terms and provisions of the Plan and this Agreement, and accepts the 
Restricted Stock Units subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.  In the event of 
a conflict between any term or provision contained in this Agreement and a term or provision of the Plan, the 
applicable term and provision of the Plan will govern and prevail. The Participant understands they have a right 
to consult with counsel and have been afforded the opportunity to consult with an attorney to the extent they 
wish to do so.

[Signature page follows.]
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 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Participant have executed this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement as 
of the dates set forth below. 

 

PARTICIPANT    DEFINITIVE HEALTHCARE CORP.

 

 

______________________________ By: ______________________________

Date:_________________________  Date: _____________________________

 

 

 
 

[Signature Page – Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement]
 



 
 

 
SCHEDULE I

 
 

Performance Targets
 
The Restricted Stock Units shall vest based upon achievement of total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company relative to the 
TSR of the Peer Group (defined below) between January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2024 (the “Performance Period”). 
 

• Performance levels & vesting: Performance levels and vesting will be determined by the Committee based on a 
percentile ranking of the Company's TSR as compared to the TSR of the Peer Group. The Company’s TSR shall be 
compared to the TSR for each of the entities within the Peer Group for the Performance Period. The results shall be 
ranked from highest to lowest TSR (rounded, if necessary, to the nearest whole percentile by application of regular 
rounding) to determine the Company’s relative TSR percentile ranking (the “Relative TSR Percentile”) compared to the 
Peer Group. Vesting of the Restricted Stock Units, if any, shall occur as of the last day of the Performance Period and 
shall be determined based on the Relative TSR Percentile as follows:

Performance Levels Relative TSR Percentile Vesting Percentage
Threshold 50th percentile 50%
Target 60th percentile 100%
Exceptional 75th percentile 200%
Superior 90th percentile 300%

  
The Vesting Percentage for Relative TSR Percentiles between two adjacent performance levels shall be determined by 
straight line interpolation. The Committee will make the determination of vesting after the Performance Period and prior 
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units.
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company’s absolute total shareholder return is negative at the end of the Performance 
Period (irrespective of relative performance outcomes), vesting shall be capped at the Target level (100%).  Except as set 
forth in Section 11 of the Employment Agreement, any Restricted Stock Units that do not vest as of the Vesting Date shall be 
forfeited automatically and without consideration.

• Calculating TSR: 

TSR = (Ending Stock Price – Beginning Stock Price + Cumulative Cash Dividend Payments)
_____________________________________

(Beginning Stock Price)
 

o “Ending Stock Price” shall mean the average of the closing prices of the applicable stock for the 20 trading days 
up to and including the last day of the Performance Period.
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o “Beginning Stock Price” shall mean the average of the closing prices of the applicable stock for the 20 trading 
days starting on and including the first day of the Performance Period.

o “Cumulative Cash Dividend Payments” shall mean the sum of all cash dividends declared during the 
Performance Period, at the closing price on the ex-dividend date.

o The value of any Peer Company shares traded on a foreign exchange will be converted to U.S. dollars using the 
then applicable spot rate.

• “Peer Group” means a subset of the NASDAQ Software & Services Index isolated to the Application Software and 
Healthcare Technology GICS Industry codes as of the end of the Performance Period (with each company in the Peer 
Group referred to as a “Peer Company”). The Committee may modify the Peer Group as follows:

a. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, add Application Software and Healthcare Technology (as 
defined by their GICS Industry code) companies that become publicly traded and have been included in the 
NASDAQ Software & Services Index during the Performance Period; 

b. In the event of a merger, acquisition or business combination transaction of a Peer Company with or by 
another Peer Company, the surviving entity shall remain a Peer Company if they continue to be included in 
the NASDAQ Software & Services Index.

c. In the event of a merger of a Peer Company with an entity that is not a Peer Company, or the acquisition or 
business combination transaction by or with a Peer Company, or with an entity that is not a Peer Company, 
in each case where the Peer Company is the surviving entity and remains publicly traded, the surviving 
entity shall remain a Peer Company if they continue to be included in the NASDAQ Software & Services 
Index.

d. In the event of a merger or acquisition or business combination transaction of a Peer Company by or with 
an entity that is not a Peer Company, a “going private” transaction involving a Peer Company or the 
liquidation of a Peer Company, where the Peer Company is not the surviving entity or is otherwise no 
longer publicly traded, the company shall no longer be a Peer Company.

e. In the event of a bankruptcy of a Peer Company, such company shall remain a Peer Company if they 
continue to be included in the NASDAQ Software & Services Index.

f. In the event a Peer Company’s GICS Industry code changes from Application Software or Healthcare 
Technology and/or the Peer Company is no longer included in the NASDAQ Software & Services Index, 
such company shall no longer be a Peer Company.

g. In the event of a stock distribution from a Peer Company consisting of the shares of a new publicly-traded 
company (a “spin-off”), the Peer Company shall remain a Peer Company if they continue to be included in 
the NASDAQ Software & Services Index and the stock distribution shall be treated as a dividend from the 
Peer Company (as described above).  The performance of the shares of the spun-off company shall not 
thereafter be tracked for purposes of calculating TSR.
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h. In the event that a company is included as a Peer Company for a portion, but not all, of the Performance 
Period, the weighting for such company shall be prorated for the portion of the Performance Period for 
which such company was a Peer Company.

 
The Committee shall make all determinations under this Schedule I using a reasonable business judgment standard and such 
determinations shall be final and binding on all parties.
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Exhibit 31.1

 
Management Certification Pursuant to 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Robert Musslewhite, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Definitive Healthcare Corp.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) [Paragraph omitted in accordance with Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)]; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

  
     
Date:  August 4, 2022

  
    /s/ Robert Musslewhite

        Robert Musslewhite
    

  
  Chief Executive Officer

    
  

  (Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

 
Management Certification Pursuant to 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Richard Booth, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Definitive Healthcare Corp.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) [Paragraph omitted in accordance with Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)]; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

  
    
Date:  August 4, 2022

  
  /s/Richard Booth

      Richard Booth
    

  Chief Financial Officer
    

  (Principal Financial Officer)
 
 



 
Exhibit 32.1

 
Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to 

18 U.S.C. Section 1350, 
as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Definitive Healthcare Corp. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 
2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Robert Musslewhite, as Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company, and Richard Booth, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 

 

Date: August 4, 2022
 
/s/ Robert Musslewhite
  
Robert Musslewhite
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

  
 
/s/ Richard Booth
  
Richard Booth
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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